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SUMMARY

This Gatehouse, with a domestic wing to one side of it, is all that remains of Cawood
Castle, the principal palace of the Archbishops of York from the 13th century, 200 years
before the Gatehouse was built, until 1646 when the castle’s destruction was ordered by
Parliament during the Civil War. The flat landscape seems an unlikely site for a fortified
building, but this was an important cross-road with a ferry over the Ouse on the road to
York and another running east-west along the riverbank.

The Castle has always had important royal as well as episcopal connections. Henry lll,
Edward | and his wife Margaret, Edward Il and his wife Isabella, have all stayed here, the
last on his way to disastrous defeat at the hands of the Scots led by Robert the Bruce at
Bannockburn.

It was Archbishop John Kempe who built the Gatehouse, using the creamy-white stone
from a quarry at Huddleston, owned by the Cathedral. The son of a Kentish gentleman,
Kempe rose swiftly through political and religious ranks. Henry VI declared him to be
“one of the wisest lords in the land”. He rose to be Bishop of Rochester, then
Chichester, London, and then Archbishop of York in 1425. He was proud of becoming a
cardinal in 1439 and the Cardinal’s hat appears on several of the finely-carved stone
shields over the archway. It is likely that he also built the range to the east as it is
bonded in with the Gatehouse.

Cawood Castle was by now more palace than castle. Kempe’s successor, Archbishop
George Neville celebrated his installation in grand style. John Leland described in every
sumptuous detail the feast he threw. Provisions included 400 swans, 104 oxen, 2000
pigs and 4000 venison pasties! It was one of the most famous of all medieval feasts.

Thomas Wolsey became Archbishop of York in 1514, but never came to Cawood until
1530, when he had fallen from power and had to surrender all his offices except York. It
was here that he was arrested by the Earl of Northumberland and turned back to the
South where he died soon after.

Henry VIII stayed here for two days with his wife Catherine Howard. In her retinue was
her lover, Thomas Culpeper who later caused her to be beheaded. Further royal intrigue
occurred here in 1568 when the “Rising in the North” first plotted to bring back the
Catholic religion and to replace Queen Elizabeth with Mary Queen of Scots. It ended with
the execution of the Earls of Northumberland and Westmoreland and 400 of their
followers at York.

During the Civil War, Cawood changed hands three times. Originally garrisoned with
Royalist troops, they mostly deserted when faced by 600 foot and cavalry soldiers in
October 1642. But by June 1643 it had been recaptured by the Royalists, who held in
for one year when it was retaken by Sir John Meldon for Parliament. At the end of the
war. Parliament decided that Cawood, together with 7 other castles in the north should
be “slighted” or made untenable. Most of the castle was demolished including the
crenelated parapet on the Gatehouse.

The Gatehouse continued in use by the Archbishops of York as a local or ‘leet’ court,
and towards the end of the 18th century, the second staircase was built to enable the
judge to enter the court room by a different stair from the prisoners. In 1932, the
courtroom was turned into a sitting room and during the Second World War it was used
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as an Officers’ Mess and also by the Home Guard. More recently it contained a full-sized
billiard table, which was still there when the Landmark Trust finally acquired the
Gatehouse in 1985.

THE REPAIR OF CAWOOD CASTLE

Surprisingly, the Gatehouse survived the demolition of Cawood following the Civil War,
relatively unscathed. The only serious change which had occurred in the 550 years since
it was built was to the roof line. The crenelated parapet had been removed and a pitched
roof had been substituted for the original flat one. Happily, a small part of the original
parapet still existed and so it was possible to replace it exactly. This was done using a
similar magnesium limestone from Cadeby, near Doncaster. The Welsh slate roof was
removed and the Gatehouse given a flat one once more, although this time of York stone
laid over concrete rather than lead as the original would have been. The original stone
springers of the medieval roof vault to the spiral staircase still existed and so the internal
dome was re-formed using oak ribs. The oak roof was repaired and given a new lead
covering, with a wheat sheaf crowning the turret as a tribute to Archbishop Kempe on
whose armorial bearings it appears. Half of the original timber gate was lying below the
arch and this has now been mended and the repaired gate replaced.

Inside, the problem was how to obtain a kitchen, bathroom and cloakroom with the
minimum of alteration. In the end, our neighbour allowed us to truncate his house by
some five feet to make a cloakroom and kitchen on the first floor, and a mezzanine
bathroom between first and second floors. The kitchen is lit by a new inconspicuous
window made in the south wall.

The ceiling of the sitting room is new as the old one had fallen in. A hard cement render
on the walls was removed and redone with lime plaster and limewash. The original lime
ash floor had virtually disappeared, and so the remaining patch was covered and the
whole repaved with Cadeby stone with slate inserts. Concrete that had been put down in
the bay of the north window was left for fear of damaging the cantilevered structure.
The bedroom has its floor replaced and a later floor which cut across the windows was
removed. The tracery and glazing were restored here as it has been elsewhere.

Outside, the contemporary range, east of the Gatehouse, was in use as a barn. The north
side was blocked by undistinguished farm buildings which we demolished to reveal the
medieval construction. A wide opening for farm vehicles that had been knocked through
between the third and fourth buttress was blocked up and its window restored. On the
south side, three windows that had been blocked up were reopened, and the fifth
buttress put back as it had been removed when a farm building was placed against the
wall. The whole of the roof was retiled and some of the timber structure repaired. Finally,
the brick wall that ran along the side of the pavement was removed to improve the view
from the street.
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Cawood Castle

The Gatehouse of Cawood Castle was built by John Kemp, while he was
Archbishop of York, between 1425 and 1451. This range of dates can be
narrowed down further, because a Cardinal’s hat appears in the heraldic carving,
and Kemp became a Cardinal in 1439. The Gatehouse formed an entrance to a
courtyard, or series of courtyards, that stretched down to the river Ouse, looking
very like an Oxford or Cambridge college. The present approach is from the
courtyard side. The small addition on this (north) side of the Gatehouse was built

on in the 18th century to contain a staircase.

The brick building to the east was living quarters, and was built at the same time
as the Gatehouse. The house lying to the west was built mainly in the 18th and

19th centuries, and is not the property of the Landmark Trust.

The cream-coloured stone of which the Gatehouse is built is the local magnesian

limestone. The brick residential building is dressed with the same stone.

Cawood Castle and the ferry over the Ouse
(engraving from Drake’s History of York, 1736)
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North view of the Gatehouse
(engraving from Drake’s History of York, 1736)
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History of Cawood Castle

Cawood Castle was the principal palace of the archbishops of York from the 13th
century, two hundred years before the building of the Gatehouse, until its
destruction was ordered by Parliament in 1646. Records earlier than the mid-13th
century are slight, but land at Cawood was given to the then Archbishop of York
by King Athelstane in thanksgiving for his victory over the Danes at Brunanburg,
in Dumfries-shire, in 937. The Archbishop probably had a fortified manor here in

Norman times.

Cawood seems an unlikely site for a fortified building, flat and difficult to defend,
but it stood at an important cross-roads. From earliest times there was a ferry
here over the Ouse, on the road leading to York from the south, and there was a
road running east and west along the river bank. It may be that the Castle was
not always sited exactly where it is now. The moat shown on the large-scale map
points to a site south and west of the present one. But from the early 1400s it
lay between the Gatehouse and the river; the remains of the old walls can still be

seen south of the road that runs along the south bank of the Ouse.

In 1271, Archbishop Gifford was given leave to crenellate, and Cawood became
officially a Castle. But even before that it was a place where the kings stayed
when they came north. In 1255 King Henry lll stayed here on his way to meet his

son-in-law Alexander lll of Scotland, on the Scottish border.

During the summer of 1300, while Edward | was campaigning in Scotland against
William Wallace, his second wife Queen Margaret, sister of Philip the Fair of

France, stayed at Cawood with her court.
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This OS map shows how the village grew up around the castle site.
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In 1314 Edward Il stayed at Cawood with his wife Isabella, who was Philip the
Fair’'s daughter. Their stormy marriage is one of the themes of Marlowe’s play
Edward /I, which is in the Gatehouse library. The king was on his way north to
meet his barons at Berwick, before being defeated disastrously by the Scots, led

by Robert the Bruce, at Bannockburn.

There are records that throughout the 14th century Cawood Castle was being
repaired and enlarged. Archbishop Greenfield replaced the old stonework with
brick between 1305 and 1315, and built a study. In the 1380s Archbishop
Alexander Neville ‘bestowed much cost on his Castle in Cawood building divers

towers and other edifices about it’.

In 1385 the chapter of York Cathedral took an 80-year lease of Huddleston
quarry, five miles west of Cawood, near Sherburn in EImet. Traditionally Bishop’s
Dyke, running from Sherburn to Cawood, was deepened and widened and its
course straightened, so that stone from the quarry might be floated down to
Cawood on rafts and then shipped to York. Stone was also brought by land: there
is a bill dated 1450 for stone sledded to the Cawood staith from Huddleston. It
would have been of this stone, which is creamy-white, that Archbishop Bowett
rebuilt the great hall at Cawood, also giving it a lead roof, at the beginning of the

15th century.

Archbishop Bowett lived in considerable state at Cawood Castle, entertaining
lavishly; his household drank 80 tuns of wine a year (a tun of wine was a barrel
that held 252 gallons). At his death the rooms listed in the inventory are the hall
and chamber furnished with tables, chairs, ‘qwyssyns’ and covers, a library
containing 33 books, a pantry, spicery, livery, plateroom, kitchen, brewhouse,

buttery and stables - a palace indeed.

Bowett was succeeded by Archbishop John Kemp, who built the Gatehouse. The

stone almost certainly came from the same Huddleston quarry.

11
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South view of the Gatehouse
(engraving from Drake’s History of York, 1736)
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Kemp, the son of a Kentish gentleman, was born at Olanteigh, near Ashford in
Kent, in about 1380. He went to Merton College, Oxford, becoming a doctor of
law, and he was employed as a diplomat by Henry V. In 1418, after Agincourt,
he went to Normandy with the King and it is recorded that John Kemp held the
muster of the men-at-arms and archers at Bayeux before the siege and taking of
Rouen. A shrewd politician, he became chancellor of Normandy and later an
envoy and chief negotiator with France under Henry VI, who declared he was

‘one of the wisest lords in the land’.

He rose to be Bishop of Rochester, then of Chichester and then London, and in
1425 was consecrated Archbishop of York. While at York he paid for the painting
of the nave of the cathedral in white and gold. But he spent little time in
Yorkshire and is said not to have been popular there. He rose to the rank of
Cardinal in 1439, and then became Archbishop of Canterbury. In 1447 he
founded a college for secular priests at Wye, in Kent, which is now part of the

present Wye College.

Drake, in his History of York (1736) writes of Kemp ‘we have no memorial of him
in this see of York but what he has left himself, which was the gatehouse of the
Palace at Cawood (now demolished), adorned both inside and out with his arms
and ensigns of a Cardinal. There are likewise several testimonials in the
woodwork of this now desolate palace, which denote that this prelate built and
repaired much of it.” There is evidence in the architecture that the building to the
east of the Gatehouse is his, and he is said to ‘have put up a fine gallery’,

perhaps in this adjoining range.

In 1464 Archbishop George Neville, brother of Warwick the Kingmaker, gave a
banquet at Cawood to celebrate his installation. John Leland, writing in 1549
after visiting Cawood (which he said was ‘a very fine castle’), described the feast
in every sumptuous detail. Provisions included 400 swans, 104 oxen, 2000 pigs

and 4000 pasties of venison. It was one of the most famous of all medieval

13
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feasts. Leland’s description is given in full in Wheater’'s History of Sherburn and

Cawood, which is in our library in the Gatehouse.
In 1500 Archbishop Savage ‘bestowed great cost in repairing the Castle of
Cawood’.When Thomas Wolsey became Archbishop of York in 1514 he did not

come to Cawood, and the Castle deteriorated.

The Downfall of Cardinal Wolsey

While Cawood witnessed occasions of great ceremony and consequence
throughout the Middle Ages, none quite rival the events of 1529 for pathos and
political significance. In the early years of the reign of Henry VIIl, another
ambitious clergyman had combined the highest political and church offices. From
very modest beginnings indeed, Thomas Wolsey, the son of a butcher and grazier
of Ipswich, rose to spectacular wealth and power through an unstoppable
combination of ambition and ability. Barely five years after the young King’s
accession to the throne Wolsey had, like Kempe before him, been made
Archbishop of York, a Cardinal of the Roman Catholic Church, and Lord

Chancellor of England.

In his mid-40s, Wolsey became the single most powerful person in the kingdom
after the King himself, and through his complete application to the King’'s wishes
and monumental hard work he towered over English politics for almost twenty
years. But his power, his reach and his appetites for material magnificence and
grand enterprises made him many enemies. When Henry VIl finally lost faith in
Wolsey, furious at his minister’s inability to secure the divorce that would allow
him to marry Anne Boleyn, Wolsey’s enemies swooped in on their former task
master. Dismissed from political office and disgraced in the winter of 1528, he
narrowly avoided arrest or incarceration and in April 1529 withdrew to York,
where a decade after being made Archbishop he finally took up residence in the

palace at Cawood.

14
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Wolsey passed under the stone gatehouse at Cawood at the end of September
1528, travelling by mule and accompanied as always by a great entourage. He
set in train an extensive programme of repairs and improvements to the castle -
which saw 300 ‘artificers and labourers’ at work on the buildings — and began to
see that life away from court had its attractions. His taste for lavish objects and
occasions had not deserted him, and he began planning a magnificent ceremony
of installation as Archbishop. But on 1 November, as he sat down to dine in the
Great Hall he saw a glimmer of doom. His sumptuous silver cross was, as usual,
placed on the dining table, but as a visitor bowed to his host it fell, striking the
guest and drawing blood. Wolsey was greatly troubled by what he took as a
terrible omen and quickly withdrew to his bedchamber. And well he might, for as
the cross fell William Walsh, one of Henry VIllI's gentlemen of the privy chamber

was riding north through the darkness to bring catastrophic news.

A week later dinner was once again underway at Cawood, when a great
clattering of hooves filled the courtyard. Walsh and the Earl of Northumberland
entered the castle and tried to remove the gatehouse keys from the porter, who
refused to part with them. Wolsey was dining privately in his first floor chamber,
and hearing of the Earl’s arrival assumed it was a social visit. Bustling down to
greet the Earl with effusive warmth, he took him into his own bedchamber to
change his clothes and promised a handsome dinner. The two were near a
window by the fireplace when ‘the earl, trembling said with a very faint and soft
voice unto my lord, laying his hand upon his arm ‘My lord’, quoth he, ‘I arrest you

of high treason’.

The cardinal, astonished and devastated, was to be taken to London for trial for
intriguing against the King. When Wolsey’s gentlemen usher George Cavendish
came to him in his chamber, he found the great prelate a broken man. Crumpled
before a table laid for dinner, tears streamed down his ample cheeks. His words
were ones of grief at leaving all those who had served him so faithfully for so

long, and were spoken with such sincerity that, in Cavendish’s own words, ‘it

15
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Cardinal Wolsey in his red cardinal’s robes and hat.

The gate passage out through which Cardinal Wolsey rode on his mule after his
arrest in November 1529.

16
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would have caused the flintiest heart to have relented and burst for sorrow’. The
following day Wolsey asked to be allowed to say goodbye to his household.
Northumberland reluctantly agreed, and in the Cawood great chamber each in
turn of the Cardinal’s servants came forward and knelt at their master’s feet to
receive his blessing and tender words of farewell. With the winter light fading the
visibly enfeebled Cardinal was helped onto his mule in the sharp air. As he
approached the closed gates, the loyal Porter opened them for his master for the

last time, and the party rode out through the crowd, bound for London.

The sorry cavalcade would never reach its destination. With Wolsey refusing to
eat, and weak with misery and illness, he struggled to keep upright on his mule.
When they arrived at Leicester Abbey, he told the abbot that he came to leave his
bones among them, and so it would be. The Cardinal, pale and spent, told his
gaoler that if only he had served God as diligently as he had the King, then he
would not now be abandoned. As the morning light filled his chamber there he
lost the power of speech and while the clock was striking eight, his troubled
breath finally ceased. It was the end of an epoch. Within seven years Henry VIlI
would have broken from the Catholic Church, begun the dissolution of the

monasteries and have both married and executed the second wife he so sought.
(Extract from Landmark: A History of Britain in 50 Buildings by Anna Keay and

Caroline Stanford, publication August 2015).

George Cavendish’s full account will be found in the library.

17



Cawood Castle History Album

After the Cardinals

Once Henry VIIlI broke with Rome, there were no more cardinals and no more
monasteries. The next Archbishop of York, Edward Lee and his successors,

acknowledge not the Pope but the monarch as the head of the church.

In 1541 Henry VIl stayed at Cawood for two days, accompanied by his fifth wife
Catherine Howard. The Queen had in her retinue Thomas Culpeper, her lover;
their liaison later led to her execution by beheading. The Privy Council met in the
Castle on September 4th and 5th. Henry had hoped to meet his nephew James V
of Scotland in York, but James avoided the meeting. In the following year James
made an unsuccessful raid into England, but his troops were defeated at Solway
Moss. After the battle some of the Scottish prisoners were held in Cawood Castle

for several months.

The plot that led to the ‘Rising in the North’ was first formed here in 1568. The
conspirators hoped to bring back the Catholic religion to England and to replace
Queen Elizabeth with Mary Queen of Scots. Support came mainly from the

northern earls, but it ended in disaster with the execution at York of the Earls of

Northumberland and Westmoreland, together with 400 of their followers.

In 1628 a Cawood man, George Monteigne, became Archbishop of York. It is
said that he owed his position to his wit. He was present at court when the king,
Charles |, was discussing possible candidates. Monteigne, who was then Bishop
of Durham, pointed to himself and said, ‘Hadst thou faith as a grain of mustard
seed thou wouldst say unto this “mountain”, be removed unto that “sea”.’ The
King was so amused that he gave him the job. There is a monument to

Archbishop Monteigne in Cawood church.
During the Civil War Cawood Castle changed hands three times. To begin with it

was garrisoned with Royalist troops by Archbishop Williams, but in October 1642

Captain Hotham, who held Hull for Parliament, descended upon the Castle with

18
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600 foot and some cavalry. Most of the garrison deserted and the Archbishop
fled to Wales. Fairfax stationed a company of foot at the Castle, but in June
1643 he was defeated at Atherton Moor and the Castle was recaptured by the
Royalists. In May 1644 Sir John Meldon re-took Cawood Castle for Parliament,
capturing three guns and 200 soldiers. Soon afterwards, on June 28th, when
Prince Rupert was on his way north to relieve the siege of York, 40 prisoners
were rescued from Cawood by a party of Royalists, but the Castle remained in
the hands of the Roundheads. During the restoration of the Gatehouse in 1988 a
lead bullet was found 15mm deep in the right-hand leaf of the main gate of the

Castle by one of the joiners, Mr Oldfield. It dated from the Civil War.

In 1646 Parliament decided that Cawood, together with Skipton and six other
castles in the north, should be ‘slighted’ or made untenable. Most of the Castle
was demolished, and it would have been at that time that the crenellated parapet

of the Gatehouse was removed.

Stone from Cawood is said to have been transported up the river in 1765 for the
building of the gateway of Bishopthorpe, the then palace of the Archbishops. The
vaults of the Castle were dug up in 1783; but the field to the south with its fish

ponds remained, and remains, almost unchanged.

Although the Castle was in ruins, the Gatehouse continued to be used by the
Archbishops as a local court, or court leet. Towards the end of the 18th century
the second staircase was built to enable the judge to enter the court room by a

different stair from that used by the prisoners. In 1855 William Grainger wrote of
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"Gateway to the Palace at Cawood" engraved by J.Rogers after a
picture by N.Whittock, published in A New & Complete History of the
County of York, 1829
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Cawood Castle in his Castles and Abbeys of Yorkshire: ‘The entrance consists of
two archways, the one for carriages is now used as a cartshed; the other forms

the entrance into the farmyard. .. [The first-floor] room is fitted up with benches
and a table, and here the Archbishop’s courts are held twice a year, for the

manor of Cawood.’

The court ceased to function in about 1925, but the staging along the east wall
of the present sitting-room in the Gatehouse remained in position until 1931. It

was four feet (120cm) high, and had steps leading up to it.

In 1931 Mr Wormald, whose family had lived in the buildings since 1800, turned
the courtroom into a lounge. During the Second World War, between 1939 and
1945, the same first-floor room was used both as an officers’ mess and also by
the Home Guard. More recently it was used as a billiard room: when the
Landmark Trust bought the Gatehouse in 1985 the billiard table was still installed

in the sitting-room.

At some time in the late 17th or early 18th century the second floor of the
Gatehouse was turned into a pigeon loft. The nesting boxes were still there in

1969.

The list of the Castle’s occupants during the last two centuries goes something
like this:

— from 1750: Edward Smith, who rented it from the Archbishops of York

— from 1800: the Wormald family

— from 1931: the Chantry family

— from 1965: the Laverty family, who were visited at Cawood by Archbishop
Coggan; he planted a tree south of the Gatehouse.

In March 1985 the Landmark Trust bought the Gatehouse from Mr D Dicke, and
the East Range, which at that time was still being used as a farm building, from

Mr R M Boothroyd.
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The heraldry at Cawood

The coats of arms carved above the arch on both sides of the Gatehouse are
important and interesting. The arms that appear most frequently are the three
garbs, or wheatsheaves, of Archbishop Kemp, confirming the view that the

Archbishop was a worldly and perhaps a flamboyant character.

After more than 550 years some of the coats of arms are so weathered that they
are difficult to decipher and a few, particularly on the south side, are impossible.
Fortunately we have the picture of the Gatehouse in Drake’s History of York,
engraved in 1736, which shows the coats of arms on the south side when they
were less eroded. Then in 1819 the Rev Thomas Powell visited the Castle and
made sketches of the principal shields on both the north and the south sides.
Later, in 1882, William Wheater, in his History of Sherburn and Cawood, gives a

list of the coats of arms, but includes those of the south side only.

As you arrive at the north side, which used to overlook the courtyard, the coats

of arms, in a row along the bottom of the bow window, are (from the left):

1 The garbs, or sheaves, of Archbishop Kemp

2 An angel with a roundel which, according to Thomas Powell, is the Cardinal’s
hat, with tassels, now eroded away, and a shield bearing the Kemp arms
hanging from it at an angle

3 The Kemp supporter, a falcon

4 The Royal Arms of England, three leopards. They are really three lions walking

(‘passant’), looking at you (‘gardant’), which in heraldry are called leopards.

Below the bow window, in a sheltered position and therefore less weathered, are:

1 The arms of the See of York - crossed keys surmounted by a crown

2 The arms of Kemp.

23
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On the south side of the Gatehouse, from the left, are:

1 to 3 The Kemp arms

4
5

The arms of the See of York

Mantling with the royal crest, which can just be deciphered with the help of
the Rev Thomas Powell

In the centre under the window are the Royal Arms of King Henry VI, being the
three leopards of England quartered with the fleur de lys of France. His
supporters seem to be (and are said by Wheater to be) stags, though Thomas
Powell has drawn what looks like a dog

The Kemp falcon supporters, with a very eroded shield and Cardinal’s hat
behind

The Kemp arms

Eroded but, according to Wheater, the arms of the See of Canterbury. There is
no sketch by Powell, but in Drake this looks like the pall of Canterbury and the
Kemp arms. The pall would date the carving of this coat of arms as later than
1451, the year when John Kemp became Archbishop of Canterbury. We know
that on leaving the diocese Kemp left instructions for completing work on the

Castle.

10 and 11 The Kemp arms.
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 GREAT GATEWAY CAWOOD CASTLE.

(1882)

25



Cawood Castle History Album

TR

SR -

t floor

irs

f

‘Before restoration’ plan

26



Cawood Castle History Album

Cawood before its restoration

from architectural notes compiled by E A Gee (1969)

The Gatehouse, of magnesian limestone and built for Archbishop Kemp, has
details of exceptional quality which, however, are badly weathered on the

outside.

The main north elevation of the Gatehouse is of three storeys with square
buttresses on either side and at the top a parapet with moulded copings and

base.

At ground-floor level is a large four-centred archway set under a square head with

guatrefoils containing shields and daggers in the spandrels.

The first floor is lit by an oriel with oblique sides; the sides each have an ogee-
headed cinquefoil light with drop-head tracery and the front has two lights of the
same form. The roof of the oriel is pyramidal and has the remnants of delightful
cresting of Yorkshire type found at Skirlaugh, Topcliffe and elsewhere. The
bottoms of the window lights have square panels, multi-cusped, with coats of

arms.

The top floor is lit by a square-headed window with two cinquefoil lights and a

label.

There is a projecting newel stair at the north-west corner and this corner is
cloaked by an 18th-century staircase annex. The sides of the tower are plain
ashlar but there is a good roof line on the east side. The inner face of the
Gatehouse is of much the same form but with angle buttresses and is returned to

the wings on either side, which were thus of the same date.
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The ground floor, under a wide segmental arch, has a vehicular and a pedestrian
archway, with moulded four-centred heads and retaining the hasps for doors, one
side of which still remains and is of oak with a strong framework of upright and

cross members, halved on each other at the back (15th century).

Above the archway is a broad decorated band of panels with moulded top and

base, and set in the multi-cusped panels are coats of arms.

There is an oriel at first-floor level, oblong in plan and lit by a window with four-
centred head and three cinquefoiled lights to the front and a similar light to each

side, and the remains of bold cresting above.

The top floor is lit by a two-light square-headed window as before and here the

parapet has lost its upper courses.

The newel stair had stone treads, rather worn to the first floor but in perfect
order above, and has an attractive rail cut in the ashlar as far as the first floor. It
originally had a vaulted roof, which has been replaced by an oak one with radial

rafts, of late 17th/early 18th-century date.

The ground floor, or gate proper, has a vault with hollow-chamfered ribs, no
bosses, and the web is formed of brick; this latter technique is not exceptional in
this area and occurs in much of the 14th-century vaulting of Beverley Minster.

The vault oversails the unusually deep but thin ribs completely.

The first-floor room, commonly called the Court Room and later turned into a
billiard room, probably housed the leet court, as did so many gatehouses, such as
that of St Mary’s, York. The oriel window in the north wall has a very good-
quality ribbed barrel vault; the east wall is cement-rendered and the west wall
likewise, but in it is an original fireplace with square head with rounded angles

and a continuous bracket moulding on the reveals. The doorway to its south
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originally led to a range to the west, now replaced by the house, and has a four-
centred head and bland spandrels under a moulded label. The oriel window in the
south wall has a ribbed vault with bosses, including a lion’s mask, a rose and
foliage and, in the middle, a pelican vulning itself (‘vulning’ is a heraldic term
synonymous with wounding - a reference to the belief that the pelican fed her
brood with blood drawn from her own breast). On either side of the jamb is a
winged angel issuing from clouds. The one to the east has the arms of

Archbishop Kemp and the other holds a scroll.

The second floor is now divided but in general is filled with nesting boxes, well
constructed in brick and of late 17th/early 18th-century date. There is a medieval
fireplace as before, behind the boxes of the east wall. The inserted roof is of
roughly shaped oak and on this is a gypsum floor laid on reeds, a practice more

common in Nottinghamshire, where the stables at Wollaton are so constructed.

The present roof is of Welsh slates; at this level are two medieval chimneys,

octagonal and originally with battlemented tops.

The range to the east of the Gatehouse is of the same date, for not only does the
inside face of the gate bond in, but features inside have the same bracket mould

as those of the Gatehouse.

It is of eight bays in brick with stone dressings, but the two easternmost bays

have been largely rebuilt.

The north elevation is difficult to see (because of the farm buildings) but in
general the bays are delineated by three-stage buttresses in brick with magnesian
limestone weatherings, and there is a plinth at ground level and an inset at the
top of the ground floor, both originally with chamfered limestone members. Each
bay on the north side had one cinquefoiled light to both ground and first floor, but

in two bays at least there were fine doorways each with moulded reveals, four-

29



Cawood Castle History Album

e ————

Znd

‘Before restoration’ plan: second floor
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centred head and label. The east gable was rebuilt in the 18th century and the

west one abuts the gate tower.

The south elevation is as before, but here the ground floor is not lit. The first two
bays declare themselves medieval by trimmed-off buttresses, but have largely
been rebuilt, probably in the 18th century. The fourth buttress has been cut away
like the first two, but the others are in good order. The first and second windows
and vanished, but the remainder remain in good preservation. The third one is
open, the fourth one has its original iron stanchions, while the sixth, seventh and

eighth windows are blocked.

There is a later barn doorway in the fifth bay. Inside it is clearly seen that the
building was of two storeys and that a floor has been removed. Not much detail
can be seen at ground level but there is a fireplace like those in the tower at the
east end and a small aumbry or lamp recess by it and the two fine doorways on
the north side already mentioned. The first floor is lit on both sides and the
windows have four-centred rear arches in brick. This floor may have had a two-
bay room on the east, entered by an original doorway still existing, a four-bay
room and certainly at the west end was a two-bay room, for a roof truss shows
mortices for a partition wall and this latter room has a fireplace set obliquely in

the south corner.

The roof has quite a few medieval trusses and at the same time there is a lot of
re-used wood and renewal of older wood. If the roof line on the gate tower is a
criterion, it has been wholly remodelled, but one cannot be dogmatic about this.
The older trusses have tie-beams, collars and principals and arched braces from
the tie to the collars, with two purlins on either side; most members are

chamfered.
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The house on the other side of the Gatehouse [2 Thorpe Lane - not the property
of the Landmark Trust] is of red brick, of four bays with two storeys and attics,
and has Victorian annexes to the north and west. The roofs are of pantiles. The
south front has a three-brick band between the storeys, the upper one projecting.
At the south end of the ground floor a remnant of the 15th-century range remains
as a slightly projecting section, and to its left are two windows with plastered flat
arches, stone cills and plate-glass hung sashes. The openings and fielded-panelled
shutters are 18th century but the remainder is Victorian. A doorway in the third
bay has a porch with a heavy flat roof with moulded entablature, supported by
square columns with panels suggested by incised grooves and similar pilasters.
The doorway proper has an oblong fanlight and a door with six panels with
applied moulding (c. 1830). To the west there is another window, and the first
floor is lit by four similar windows over the openings below. In the roof are four
gabled dormers of Victorian type; at the west end is a pent-roofed addition of one

and a half storeys. There are two chimney breasts on the north side of the ridge.
The north side of the house has at the centre a porch-like stair annex and at the

north end another stair annex. Between these is a 19th-century infill of two

storeys and all the windows in the main house are sliding Yorkshire sashes.
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South side showing the remaining parapet south of the stair turret
with the farm shed still attached - note the growth of ivy
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The north side was spoilt by encroaching farm buildings
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Repairing the Gatehouse

The Gatehouse survived the gradual demolition of the rest of the Castle in the
years following the Civil War, surprisingly unscathed. When the Landmark Trust
took over the building in 1985 the only serious change it had suffered in the 550
years since it was first built was to the roof line. The crenellated parapet had

been removed and a pitched roof had been substituted for the original flat one.

Apart from this there was, of course, weathering. The important and interesting
heraldic carving was badly eroded and this has been carefully restored. The
appearance of the north side was spoilt by encroaching farm buildings, but
undamaged except (again) for the weathering of the stonework. Some of the
stone in the front window had to be replaced. The stone used came from
Cadeby, near Doncaster. Although it was not from the same quarry as the original

stone, it was a similar magnesian limestone.

The roof

Fortunately a small part of the original crenellated parapet still existed south of
the turret of the spiral stair, so it was possible to replace it all exactly as it was.
The pitched Welsh slate roof was removed and the Gatehouse once more has a
flat one. It consists of York paving laid over a waterproof insulated covering to a
new concrete roof. The original would have been lead, but this was not used for

technical reasons. The 15th-century chimneys were repaired.

The spiral staircase

The original medieval roof of the stair turret, which had a stone vault, had been
replaced in wood, and at a lower pitch, in the 18th century; but this later roof
was now, in its turn, in a decayed condition. The original stone springers of the
medieval vault still existed, however, so it was decided to re-form the internal
dome using oak ribs supported on the existing but lengthened central post. The

later oak roof structure was repaired and re-used above to carry a new lead
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covering. The wheatsheaf crowning the turret is a tribute to Archbishop Kemp,

on whose armorial bearings it appears.

The ground-floor vault
Part of the centre rib running north and south had fallen down, and was replaced.
Fortunately it had caused no damage to the arch. The webs between the stone

ribs are brick.

The gate

Half of the original timber gate was lying below the arch; it has been mended and
replaced. The recesses cut into the stonework into which the drawbars fitted can
be clearly seen. Remains of the cast iron supports for the gate are still fixed to

the eastern jamb reveal.

Alterations to the interior plan

To appreciate fully what has been done, one needs to consult the ‘before
restoration’ plans. One of the problems was how to obtain a kitchen, a bathroom
and a cloakroom with the minimum of alteration. To this end an area about five
feet (150cm) wide was taken off the house west of the gatehouse to make a
mezzanine bathroom between the first and second floors and, on the first floor, a
cloakroom and a kitchen. The bathroom has a new doorway connecting it to the
stairs. The kitchen is lit by a new, inconspicuous window made in the south wall.
In the ‘before’ plan the door into the kitchen opens into a cupboard but it is an
important doorway, and would almost certainly originally have led into a western

residential range.

The 18th-century staircase

This dates from the second half of the 18th century, and was probably added
when the Gatehouse became the Archbishop of York’s Court Leet. It was in a
poor state of repair; much of the woodwork has been renewed, the walls have

been replastered and it has been re-roofed.
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The first-floor sitting-room

The ceiling is new, the old one having fallen in. The hard cement rendering has
been removed from the walls, which have been limewashed in a thin lime plaster.
Similarly the high-quality carvings in the south bay have been cleaned and
limewashed. The original lime ash floor had virtually disappeared; the tiny patch
that remained has been covered and the whole floor re-paved with Cadeby stone
and slate dots. Concrete had been put down in the bay of the north window, and

has not been removed for fear of damaging the cantilevered structure.

The second-floor bedroom
The original floor was missing and has been replaced. A later floor that cut across
the windows was removed, and the tracery and glazing restored here as it has

been elsewhere.

The East Range

This building is contemporary with the Gatehouse. The evidence for this is that
the stonework of the East Range is bonded into that of the Gatehouse, and that
certain features inside - such as the door jambs and the eastern fireplace lintel
and hearth - share the same moulding. Archbishop Kemp’s wheatsheaves can be
seen on the frame of the door at first-floor level in the partition wall, though it
would originally have been in a different position since this wall was a later
addition. The two bays at the end furthest from the Gatehouse were largely

rebuilt, probably in the 18th century.

When the Landmark Trust took over Cawood Castle this part of it was used as a

barn.

The north side
This face was blocked by undistinguished farm buildings, which were removed
with spectacular results: a fine medieval building emerged. A wide opening for

farm vehicles had been roughly knocked through the north and south walls,
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between the third and fourth buttresses. This opening has been blocked up, and

on the north side the window that had been demolished has been restored.

The south side
The fifth buttress, which had been removed when a farm building was placed
against the wall, was reinstated. The three windows at the Gatehouse end had

been blocked up, and have now been reopened.

The whole of the roof had to be re-tiled, and some of the rafters, collars and

braces were repaired.
The interior of the building has not been changed. The ground level, which was
about two and a half feet (75cm) above the level it had been when the Castle

was built, was dug away to its earlier height.

Finally, to improve the view from the street, the brick wall that ran alongside the

pavement was removed.
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Farm buildings that encroached on the northern side
of the Gatehouse and East Range being demolished in 1985
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The parapet completed: work in progress
on the spiral staircase turret
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Concreting the Gatehouse roof

The restored roof, parapet and chimney
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Construction of the spiral staircase turret

The spiral staircase turret with its wheatsheaf finial
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Cleaning Archbishop Kemp’s falcon
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Cleaning the internal masonry

The south bay of the first-floor room during decoration
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Running the plaster cornice in the Georgian staircase
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The great gate being mended
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The south side in 1985, showing the barn door, the bricked-up
windows and the buttress hacked away for a farm shed

The barn door from the north side in 1985
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The barn door being bricked up on the south side; one buttress is still
missing

The south and east sides of the east range after restoration
but before reducing the ground level
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Work in progress on the north side

The window that was removed to make the barn opening was restored
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View from the road before the ground level was reduced
and before the brick boundary wall was demolished

Drain excavations
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The restored roof: rafters, collars and braces
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Investigating the floor in the east range
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Looking west during the restoration of the window openings
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Looking east at the later cross wall
with rebuilt first-floor doorway
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CAWOOD: AN ARCHIEPISCOPAL LANDSCAPE

by N. K. Blood and C. C. Taylor.

Introduction.

In late 1989 the Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England
surveyed the earthworks lying. within the large area of open land known as Castle
Garth, Cawood (SE 574376). The work was undertaken at the request of the Cawood
Parish Council who wished for information on the site prior to the establishment of a
new management plan. The survey was carried out by N. K. Blood, with the assistance
of P. Sinton, at 1:2500 scale using metrical control based on an EDM framework. The
archaeological detail was supplied by plane table and self-reducing alidade.
Documentary material was provided by Dr. B. Jones. The full archive (SE 53 NE 2) is
held by the National Monuments Record and aerial photographs by the Air
Photography Unit of the Royal Commission. This account is published by courtesy of
the Commissioners. ,

The remains of Castle Garth have their own intrinsic interest as the presumed site of
the outer court and gardens of one of the palaces of the medieval archbishops of York
and are worth publishing on those grounds alone. However, the overall setting of the
site and its relationship to the remarkable standing buildings of the palace and, more
particularly, toithe village of Cawood and its associated landscape is such that it
seemed that a more comprehensive publication might be useful.

The Sherburn Estate (Fig. 1).

The first detailed reference to Cawood is in 963 when King Edgar granted an estate
at Sherburn either to Aeslac, perhaps Earl Oslac, exiled in 975, or to Osketel,
Archbishop of York, (956-71).! The boundaries of the estate, as given in 963, are
extremely vague but appear to indicate that it included most of the land within the
rough triangle formed by the Rivers Wharfe / Ouse on the north, the River Aire on the
south and the Roman Road from Castleford (Lagentium) to Tadcaster (Calcaria) on
the west. Though at first sight the charter implies the existence of a compact and
unified estate it is clear that even in the late tenth century some land within this
triangle lay outside the grant. Among the few places specifically mentioned in the 963
charter is ‘all Lotherton except 1 hide’. This suggests that if the estate at Sherburn had
once been geographically compact, by 963 it had already been reduced in size
presumably by losses or other unrecorded grants. Nevertheless it certainly included
Cawood which is mentioned specifically in the charter. .

1. W. Farrer (ed), Early Yorkshire Charters I (1914), 18-21, no 6 (hereafter Farrer 1914); Historians of the
Church of York 1 (RS 71), 340, no 5. The interpretation of the 963 charter given here is at variance with
that of Mrs. M. H. Long in H. E. J. le Patourel, M. H. Long and E. Pickles (eds), Yorkshire Boundaries to
be published by the Yorkshire Archaeological Society. The view expressed in the present paper is more
in keeping with the interpretation in G. R. J. Jones, 'Early Territorial Organization in Gwynedd and
Elmet', Northern Hist 10 (1975).
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the Historical Monuments of England) =~ h
- The situation is both clarified and perhaps confused by a memorandum of 975 by
Archbishop Oswald (971-92) which gives a list of outlying properties at Ripon, Otley
and Sherburn which had been lost to the see.? Under Sherburn it is claimed that half
an unidentified place called Ceoredeholm as well as half the ‘soke which belongs to
Sherburn’ had been taken away but that ‘half of Cawood ... still belongs to Sherburn’.
Stenton> used this memorandum to argue that even by this date the northern church
had not recovered from the depredations of the Danish invasions of the ninth century.
As Sherburn had apparently been granted to the archbishop in 963 this can hardly be
so. On the other hand the loss of extensive archiepiscopal rights and land between 963
and 975 seems unlikely. It may be that the 963 grant was in fact a re-granting of land
that had belonged to the see much earlier, but which had been lost during the Danish
invasion. The vague nature of the charter might then be seen as a compromise
between the original situation of a unified and compact estate lying within the
“Wharfe / Ouse and Aire triangle and the 963 position when extensive lands and rights
had been lost to other landowners who would not give them up. Nevertheless the
important point for the history of Cawood is that the memorandum admits that the
archbishop held only ‘half’ of it. ' . :

The picture becomes clearer in the next surviving documentary source. This, another
charter, dated c. 1030,* describes in more detail the archbishop’s land at Sherburn.
The constituent vills of the estate are listed and described and these make it clear that
the estate did not then cover the whole of the Wharfe / Ouse, Aire, Roman Road

2. A.J. Robertson, Anglo-Saxon Charters (1939), 110-13.
3. F. M. Stenton, Anglo-Saxon England (1947), 430.
4, Farrer 1914,21-3, no 7.
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triangle (Fig. 1). These vills seem to cover a compact block, though with a gap in the
centre caused by the omission of Hambleton. In addition all the townships at the
extreme eastern end of the triangle such as Camblesforth, Drax, Long Drax, etc are
also excluded. Further, the townships such as Ryther, Grimston and Stutton in the
north-west of the area immediately south of Tadcaster are not listed as part of the
estate. At the same time the description of some of the townships within the
apparently compact group around Sherburn itself confirms the evidence of the 963
charter as well as the 975 memorandum that the estate only covered parts of some of
these townships. Thus, for example, the charter specifies ‘all Wistow ... half Barlow, ...
all the two Thorpes ... all Fairburn except 2!/, ploughlands’ etc. In particular there are
‘two parts of Cawood’ which presumes that there was at least another part of Cawood
in other hands. This again may be significant. Domesday Book clarifies matters still
further. The details of the archbishop’s estate are not specified, it merely being
recorded that ‘in Sherburn with its outliers are 96 carucates of land’.> However this
assessment is approximately the same as the 20 hides of 963 and thus it is likely that
the archbishop’s estate was then the same as in 963 and 1030. More significant are the
landholdings listed in Domesday Book for this area which are not held by the
archbishop.” Ilbert de Lacey’s extensive estate has three features which stand out in
particular. Some of the lands de Lacey held are in townships where the archbishop also
held land as part of the Sherburn estate. These include Ledsham, Fairburn, Forton
and Milford. Another section comprises parts of townships at the far eastern end of the
Wharfe / Ouse, Aire triangle, such as Drax, Carlton and Camblesforth, as well as
Hambleton, the only non-archiepiscopal holding to the west. The third feature of the
de Lacey estate is a compact group of townships immediately south of Tadcaster. This
group not only fills in the gap between the archbishop’s holding to the south and the
Roman Road to Tadcaster in the north, where it turns north-east to reach the town,
but extends across this Roman Road and is part of a much larger group of holdings
most of which lay further west.

All this suggests that there may well once have been a unified estate of the
archbishop of York!at Sherburn perhaps derived from a royal grant of land following
the conquest of the British kingdom of Elmet in the seventh century. This estate was
possibly then lost to the see following the Danish invasion. When it was finally
returned in 963 much of its land and part of its soke had fallen into other hands and
were irrecoverable. Specifically Cawood was by then at least in dual tenure, part held
by the archbishop and part by an unspecified lord. Who that lord might have been is
quite unknown though later on certainly the Crown was involved as tenant in chief in
Cawood.

After the late eleventh century the archbishop’s estate at Sherburn is reasonably
well documented. Some parts of it were later granted away, for example Monk Fryston,
given to Selby Abbey soon after its foundation.” It nevertheless remained a
recognizable unit of tenure until well into the seventeenth century when it was finally
alienated. N

Cawood village (Figs 2, 3, 5).

The-village of Cawood lies on the southern side of the River Ouse 1km below its
confluence with the River Wharfe on clay and sand at 7-8m above OD, at the point

5. M. L. Faull and M. Stinson (eds), Domesday Book, Yorkshire, (1986), 2B.1 (hereafter Faull and Stinson
1986).

6. Faull and Stinson 1986, 9W.

7. M. W. Beresford, New Towns of the Middle Ages (1967), 520 (hereafter Beresford 1967).
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Fig.2 Cawood village in 1780, based on the Enclosure Map (North Yorkshire County Record Office).

where the artificial watercourse known as the Bishop Dike joins the river. The present
B 1222 road from York to Sherburn crosses the Ouse at Cawood, now on a steel swing
bridge constructed in 1872. Before that the river was crossed by a ferry which originally
belonged to- the archbishop and which was always a valued source of revenue.® The
crossing and the road must always have been important in medieval times and _
presumably constrained the precise location of at least part of Cawood.
The tenurial history of Cawood in the medieval period was relatively simple. The
main manor was, of course, that belonging to the archbishop of York, fully documented
in numerous records from 963 until its alienation in the seventeenth century. Even
* then the archbishop still retained land in Cawood, normally rented out.? A second
manor in Cawood was held for much of the medieval period by the de Cawood family.

8. e.g. Cal Ing Misc VI, 203, no 349; Borthwick Inst CC Ab 8/5 24-24v (1647).

9. c.g. Pipe Roll Soc NS 13 (1935), 119; Rot Hund I (1812), 135; Cal Ing Misc IV, 215, no. 396; Reg Arch William
Greenfield 1306-1315 1 (Surtees Soc 145 (1931)), 223, no. 516; PRO SC12/17/58; Borthwick Inst CC
Ab 2/5 (1700).
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The origins of this manor are obscure but they may lie in that part of Cawood which is
specified as not belonging to the archbishop in both 975 and 1030. This may have been
held then and later by the Crown though such a situation is not recorded in Domesday
Book. The second manor therefore may have originated in an early royal grant of land
to the ancestors of the Cawoods. Certainly the Cawoods held the manor of the king as
keepers of the ‘Royal Forest of Langwath between the Derwent and the Ouse’.!?

The earliest clear reference to this manor is in 1201 when John de Cawoode ‘held
land in Cawood’. The descent can be traced without a break until 1454 when another
John Cawood held land there.!! Thereafter the Cawoods disappear from the parish,
though what may be the same family were holding land in York and Burton Agnes
soon afterwards.?

However, even before 1454 the Cawoods appear to have lost some of their land in
Cawood for in 1425 one Thomas Aunger had acquired, perhaps by marriage, some land
which seems earlier to have been part of the Cawood manor though held of the Crown
separately from the main manor there. Certainly by 1463 a Thomas Aunger held a
manor in Cawood of the Crown by service of Keeper of the Forest of Langwath. In
1494 what had definitely been the Cawood manor was leased by the Crown to Richard
Acclam who was holding it in 1495.'3 Thereafter the manor disappears from the record
as a unified landholding, presumably as a result of sales. _

Apart from the manors of the archbishop and the Cawoods no other major
landholding appears in the medieval records. Thus these two manors are presumably
all that existed. The centre of the archbishop’s manor was obviously Cawood Castle
(Fig. 3; see below). The manor house of the Cawoods can only be the small rectangular
moated site, known as Kensbury, which lies on the south-eastern side of the village in
the angle between Broad Lane and Wistowgate.!* Certainly Mrs le Patourel made this
connection. ® '

The relationship of this medieval tenure to the physical make-up of Cawood is
important. As noted earlier, only ‘half’ of Cawood was in the hands of the archbishop in
975 and, perhaps more specifically, the archbishop’s holding in Cawood in 1030 was
described as being two parts of Cawood. The implication of this latter statement is
that there was at least one other ‘part’ in other hands. The Cawood manor, admittedly
in much later documents, is consistently described as being ‘a third part of the vill’,
‘one-third part of Cawood’.!6 It is possible that this means not only that there were
originally three parts of Cawood, but also that these three parts were physically
separate.

This hypothesis is supported by an examination of the topography and the
architecture of the present village as well as evidence from early OS maps and plans,
the enclosure map of 1780 and various seventeenth and eighteenth-century deeds and
the Court Books.!” From all these it is clear that Cawood village had three distinct

parts (Figs. 2, 5).

10. e.g. PRO C134/28/8; Cal IPM IX, 284, no. 339.

11. Book of Fees 1 1198-1242, 249; Cal IPM 1, 209, no. 668; Cal IPM V, 207, no. 367; Cal Pat Rolls 1330-1334,
362; Cal Ing Misc V1, 203, no. 349; Cal IPM XVIII, 332, no. 972; PRO C139/137/11; PRO C139/157/19.

12. PRO C142/181/72. _

13. PRO C139/22/20; PRO C140/9/5; Cal Fine Rolls 1461-1471, 51; Cal Pat Rolls 1485-1494, 464; Cal IPM

. Henry Vi1 T, 356, no. 602. :

14. NAR SE53 NE3. ;

15. H.E.J.le Patourel, Moated Sites of Yorkshire, Medieval Archacol Monograph no. 5 (1973), 15, 125 (hereafter
H. E. . le Patourel 1973).

16. Cal IPM V, 207, no. 367; PRO C134/28/8; Cal IPM XV1, 392-3, no. 983; Cal IPM XVIII, 332, no. 972.

17. Enclosure Map 1780, NYCRO PC/W15 DN 186; Borthwick Inst, Leases, Deeds, Terriers and Estate
Particulars, generally CC Ab, CAW, etc.
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600 feet

Fig.3 Cawood Castle and Castle Garth (Crown copyright: Royal Commission on the Historical
Monuments of England).
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The smallest is that known as Church End, lying to the east of the main village on
the edge of the River Ouse along a road leading east into the former Ings and Marshes.
Its western end continues as Water Row. The existence of the present parish church,
formerly a chapel of Wistow, between this road and the river, and set on a locally
prominent rise, is perhaps significant. Though much altered and extended during the
later medieval period, it still retains a mid to late twelfth-century western wall of the
nave indicating 2 major building or rebuilding at that time. All this may imply that an
associated settlement has always existed around it. Certainly the enclosure map
(Fig. 2) shows on the opposite side of the street to the church a single-row settlement
of very regular form and with the remains of a back lane. This settlement may once
have extended to the south-west and included the present Water Row. This group of
properties also forms a very regular single-row block with its own back lane, now part
of Thorpe Lane (Fig. 3). Between Church End and Water Row are the last remnants of
a former green, now largely occupied by a sub-rectangular encroachment already there
in 1851 and then partly used as a pinfold.'® There may however be a different
explanation for the regularity and indeed position of Water Row. At least in part it
occupies the north-eastern corner of what would otherwise be an almost perfectly
trapezoidal area of land containing the archbishop’s palace and its attached Castle
Garth (see below). Alternatively the Castle Garth could have been larger and have
extended to the south-east as far as Broad Lane and its junction with Wistowgate.
Either way Water Row looks as if it has been in part or completely cut out of the Castle
Garth land. If this is so it might be that the Water Row settlement had a different
origin and function from Church End or indeed the other parts of Cawood. It might be
a planned settlement connected with river traffic or the fisheries here, or perhaps, and
more likely, a settlement separate from the other parts of Cawood, planned for and
used by the servants employed by the archbishop in his palace. Certainly such servants
existed and are recorded as being lessees of tofts and lands. Thus in 1253 there is a
grant by Archbishop Gray ‘to William Scott his servant ... of a toft in Cawood’, and in
1312/13 Archbishop Greenfield granted a messuage in Cawood to ‘Richard le Laufare
his cook’ while in 1332 Archbishop Melton granted a toft there to John, his Larderer."®
Unfortunately the whereabouts of these and other similar tofts and messuages is not
known. -

The ownership of the rest of the Church End block in Cawood in medieval times is
difficult to ascertain. As far as can be seen it was archiepiscopal land though this is by
no means certain. The implication of the layout of Church End, as it existed in the late

_eighteenth century, is that it was planned or replanned at some time.

The second part of Cawood is the present Wistowgate in the south-east of the village.
At its south-eastern end it winds gently towards Wistow village, but at its north-
western end it terminates abruptly at a T-junction with Broad Lane and Thorpe Lane,
perhaps indicating either that its former extension north-west has been blocked by the
area of land known as Castle Garth (see below) or that it was a deliberate addition to
an earlier arrangement of streets.

The detailed form of Wistowgate may also be significant. It is in effect a long two-
row settlement of fairly regular form. The enclosure map (Fig. 2) clarifies this
interpretation somewhat for it shows that in the late eighteenth century the properties
on the north-east of the street formed a highly regular pattern of near-equal sized
plots terminated by what was, by then, a partly abandoned back lane. By contrast, the
properties on the south-west of the street were larger, more irregular and in most

18. OS lst edn. 6 in plan, 1851.
19. Reg Arch Gray 1215-1255 11 (Surtees Soc 56 (1870)), 270; Reg Arch William Greenfield 1306-1315 1 (Surtees

Soc 145 (1931)), 253, no. 588; Cal Pat Rolls 1330-1334, 362.
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cases with markedly curved boundaries. By analogy with elsewhere? this suggests that
Wistowgate was once a single-row planned settlement from which expansion over
former arable land took place, thus creating a two-row scttlement.

At the north-western termination of Wistowgate three other features are notable.
On the north-castern side, in the angle between Thorpe Lane and Wistowgate, is The
Grange, one of the largest houses in Cawood and certainlg once a major farmstead,
though not apparently after the late eighteenth century, ! since when it has been
without any associated land. Though of limited architectural merit and the result of
many rebuildings and alterations, it does contain the greater part of a sixteenth-
century structure?Z.

Directly opposite The Grange on the south-western side of Wistowgate is the
Kensbury moated site, the manor house of the Cawoods. To its west is a small open
triangular space known as Gill Green, itself bounded by Castle Garth to the north-
west. No direct continuity between this moated site and The Grange can be proved.
Indeed the reverse is the case for the Cawood’s messuage is specifically recorded as
‘site of the manor ... worth nothing’ in 1390 and similarly described in 1403 and
1450,2 though earlier in the fourteenth century it certainly existed and was valued at
25.2¢ Nevertheless the physical relationship between The Grange and the moated site
may be important for the understanding of this part of Cawood. As with Church End,
Wistowgate appears in origin to be a regularly planned settlement, here perhaps
replacing a more irregular settlement around Gill Green. Both the presumed original
and later settlement were thus related to the moated manor house, itself possibly
replaced by a later house on the site of The Grange in the late medieval period.

The third section of Cawood is the present core of the village. Though apparently
complex, its plan in essence has only two parts. On the main north-east to south-west
through road across the river is the Market Place, while to the north, between the road
to Ryther (Rythergate) and the River Ouse, is an incomplete grid of narrow lanes and
passages (Figs 2, 3). The present Market Place is small (45m x 10-18m), triangular in
shape and lies entirely south-west of the central road junction. However it is obvious
that this shape and size is the result of considerable encroachment.. The original
market place consisted of two distinct elements. The first was a large, almost
rectangular, riverside area or quay, whose south-western boundary was the present
Rythergate. It extended north-east to the edge of the River Ouse while its south-
eastern side was the line of the Bishop Dike. The north-western boundary is not clear
but was probably near the projected line of Back Lane. The pattern of irregular lanes
and buildings within this area so defined is very typical of market encroachment. The
second element of the former market place at Cawood includes the present Market
Place, though originally this too extended south-east to the edge of the Bishop Dike. In
essence then the first market place was an extensive rectangular area at least 130m
long and 70m across with an extension to the south-west 50m long and 30-40m wide.

Such an arrangement can only be the result of conscious planning, as appears to be
the case with the other two parts of Cawood. However, here the planning is on a large
scale and clearly consistent with.commercial exploitation of both river and road traffic.
That is, this part of Cawood is a town or rather a port in intention and in plan and its
tenurial history indicates that only an archbishop of York could have created it.

“That the river played an important part in the life of medieval Cawood is certain.

:90. RCHME, Change and Continuity (1991), 13-14.

21. Enclosure Map 1780, NYCRO PC/W15: DN 186.

22. DOE, Listed Buildings, District of Selby, 1984.

23. PRO C136/66/4; Cal IPM XVIII, 332, no. 972; PRO C139/137/11.
24. PRO C134/28/8.
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Physically the quay or staithes later expanded further downstream along the present
Old Road and Water Row, still known as The Jetty. Many late medieval records note
the existence of wharfs at Cawood,?> all of them always in the possession of the
archbishop. None of the documents referring to the de Cawood holdings ever record
any asggect of water-borne traffic, though the Cawoods certainly had fisheries on the
Ouse.

The archbishops were also concerned with other traffic into Cawood. They certainly
owned and collected tolls from the ferry across the Ouse to Cawood and also collected
and s?_;:nt money for the repair of the causewayed approach to the ferry north of the
river.

River traffic remained important at Cawood until the nineteenth century and there
is both written and pictorial evidence for it at that time.28 Indeed many surviving
buildings in the village, including eighteenth and nineteenth-century warehouses in
the area between Rythergate and King Street, also testify to the existence of late
water-borne trade. Yet this trade must have had its origin in the archbishop’s planned
inland port at Cawood. '

Bishop Dike (Fig. 3).

The original south-eastern boundary of Cawood ‘town’ is the Bishop Dike. This is an
artificial watercourse, once navigable, which extends from the River Quse at Cawood
to Sherburn, a distance of 10km. There is also the possibility that it once continued for
a further 4km to the north-west of Sherburn. Its detailed course and its documented
history have already been published?® but in the context of the Cawood landscape it
should be noted that, though the Dike is not actually recorded in documents until the
carly sixteenth century, it seems that it already existed in the fifteenth century when
it was apparently being used to transport stone to Cawood from the Huddlestone
quarries at Sherburn. There is, however, an important physical relationship that needs
to be considered. For 1.5km south-west of Cawood the Dike runs in an almost straight
line. Further south-west again towards Sherburn it meanders somewhat, clearly taking
advantage of the micro-topography there. Yet at its north-eastern end, as it approaches
Cawood village, for no apparent topographical or geological reason, the Dike suddenly
and markedly changes direction by almost 20 degrees to the north-east (at SE 572375).
On this new alignment it then forms the boundary between the south-castern edge of
the market place / staithe of Cawood village and the north-western edge of the Cawood
Castle land. Much of this section is now mainly in a culvert, apparently of cighteenth-
century date. A section was cut through it in 1986 but no dating evidence was found.3?
This close relationship between the village, Castle and Dike must be significant, and is
discussed below. - :

Cawood Castle (Figs 3, 4).

The name Cawood Castle is given to the remarkable surviving building of the
medieval palace of the archbishops of York which lies south-east of the village centre of

25. J.S. Miller and E. A. Gee, “The Bishop Dike and Huddlestone Quarry’, YAJ 55 (1983), 167-8 (hereafter
Miller and Gee 1983). : '

26. PRO C136/66/4; Cal IPM XVIII, 332, no. 972.

27. 'Cal Ing Misc 1392-1399 203, no. 349; PRO SC12/17/58; Reg Arch William Greenfield 1306-1315 1 (Surtees
Soc 145 (1931)), 223, no. 516; Borthwick Inst CC Ab 6/5, Receiver General Accounts, 1609.

28. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 12 Cawood Court Book 5 Aug 1696; CC Ab 5/8 Register of Leases f61v, 29 April
1756; CC Ab 5/17 Register of Leases 265-6, 22 April 1749; 18th-century engraving of a river frontage at
Cawood, reproduced in M. Bell, Cawood (1877), cover, and H. Speight, Lower Wharfedale (1905), 25.

29. Miller and Gee 1983,

30. Archacology in York Interim 11 no. 3 (1986), 29-31.
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Cawood. This paper is not the place for a detailed architectural analysis of the remains
and indeed neither of the present authors is qualified to provide this. Nevertheless as
landscape historians they believe that observations made during archaeological
fieldwork for RCHME might help to set the palace into its wider context.

The surviving buildings consist of a three-storeyed gatehouse of Magnesian
Limestone built by Archbishop Kempe (1426-52) and, attached to its south-eastern
side, a contemporary long two-storey range of brick with Magnesian Limestone
dressings, traditionally but probably erroneously called a Banqueting Hall. The
gatehouse, which faces south-west, shows by its elaborately carved oriel window, the
enriched spandrels of the carriage arch and the heraldic shields that it was the main
formal entrance to the palace. This being so, the palace was clearly meant to be
approached from the south corner of the village market place across the Bishop Dike,
presumably by a bridge, alongside an assumed continuation of the gatehouse range
and then left through the gatehouse into the palace proper.

Though no other parts of the palace survive, some idea of its overall arrangement
can be ascertained. The palace occupied a roughly rectangular block of land, some
110m by 100m. It was bounded by the Bishop Dike on the north-west, where not only is
the line of the Dike known, but traces of what is probably the original palace precinct
stone wall survive, within the existing property boundaries. This Magnesian Limestone
wall is discontinuous and though generally now reduced to three to four courses in
height is still at least 3m high at one point. To the north-east the palace was bounded
by the present Old Road, alongside the river, formerly part of Cawood Staithe. An
eighteenth-century engraving of the palace from the northern side of the river’! shows
part of the original precinct wall still in existence consisting of ashlar blocks with
simple buttresses. Part of this wall still survives along Old Road. Much of it has been
rebuilt but a short section is original and includes a discontinuous chamfered plinth. A
buttress, exposed during recent building works, stood at the corner of Old Road and
Thorpe Lane and appears to have faced north-east.32 The implication of this is that the
precinct wall here turned south towards Thorpe Lane. If this is so then the palace
precinct boundary presumably extended south across Thorpe Lane and then turned
north-west to meet the south-eastern corner of the so-called Banqueting Hall range.

Within this precinct, so defined, stood the palace buildings. Apart from the existing
remains and the largely unintelligible ruins shown on the eighteenth-century
engraving there is no other illustrative or physical evidence. The engraving shows a
number of ranges including, apparently, a long north-east to south-west range with
tall two-stage buttresses on its north-western side and a large traceried window in its
north-eastern gable, an obviously post-medieval domestic dwelling, a tall three-storey
ruin and, perhaps separately, part of a tall tower which is not the existing gatehouse.

Medieval documentary sources give a few incidental details of the palace, but
nothing more than would be expected in such a building. For example a chapel is
recorded in 1267 and in 1300 and a brewhouse in 1507.3% More useful perhaps are the
written surveys and inventories of the palace compiled towards the end of its life. The .
earliest is an inventory of implements remaining in the palace in 1531.3* In it some

31. 18th-century engraving of a river frontage at Cawood, reproduced in M. Bell, Cawood (1877), cover, and
H. Speight, Lower Wharfedale (1905), 25. An earlier view of the palace in c. 1660 by Daniel King is no
more informative (G. Cobb, 'Daniel King: a lesser-known seventeenth-century etcher’, Antig [ 54 (1974),
pl. LXIII). ' ”

32. NAR SE33 NE3.

33. Reg Arch Walter Gifford 1266-1279 (Surtees Soc 109 (1904)), 13; Cal Pat Rolls 1292-1301, 533; Historians of
the Church of York 111 (RS 71), 364.

34, PRO SCI11/766.
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forty separate rooms are listed. These include the expected hall, great kitchen,
brewhouse, porter’s lodge, gatehouse chamber, bakehouse, chapel, etc, but also the
chamber in the tower (again clearly not the gatehouse), the library and the little
gallery towards the waterside. Despite these details, however, it is still impossible to
ascertain the overall plan of the palace. Mid seventeenth-century surveys are even less
informative.>® All that can be said, given this limited information, is that by the
sixteenth century the palace was perhaps arranged around two courts.

The detailed history of the palace is even less well understood. The original palace of
the archbishop was at the village of Sherburn, the centre of the late Saxon estate. The
site of this palace is still marked by earthworks.3® The move to Cawood was perhaps
made for reasons of convenience, Cawood being much nearer to York and'with easier
communications by both road and river. But when this move took place, or whether it
was a gradual process, is not known. It was not until the mid fourteenth century that
Archbishop Thoresby ordered the then ruinous palace at Sherburn to be destroyed.
The situation is made more complex by the existence of the semi-fortified moated
hunting lodge, set within a deer park in Sherburn township, which was apparently built
in the mid fourteenth century, rcgular]ry used by the archbishops, and then demolished
in the early to mid sixteenth century.’

The earliest apparent reference to archiepiscopal occupation at Cawood is 1181
when Archbishop Roger de Pont L’Eveque stayed at Cawood.?® From the early
thirteenth century onwards references to the use of the palace become common and
continue up until the mid sixteenth century. During that period many archbishops
altered or improved the palace in various ways. Amongst the most notable changes are
perhaps the licence to crenellate, obtained by Archbishop Walter Gifford in 1272,39
which presumably implies near-contemporary building work there perhaps on a
massive scale, work by Archbishop William Greenfield in 1311-12, which included the
construction of a study, and the repairs carried out and ‘new towers’ added by
Archbishop Alexander Neville in 1374-88.%0 Later work included a new hall built by
Archbishop Henry Bowet (1407-23)*! and the existing gatehouse and south-eastern
range, by Archbishop John Kempe (1426-52) to judge by the heraldry there, though a
more precise date might be 1444-5. Other work included that by Archbishop Thomas
Rotherham (Scot) 81480-1500) who was alleged to have rebuilt parts of a number of
episcopal palaces.*? Later changes were carried out by Archbishop Thomas Savage
(1501-7) and Archbishop Thomas Wolsey is said to have begun lavish repairs to
Cawood before his arrest there in 1530.%3

In 1531 after the fall of Wolsey the palace was clearly in a poor state** and
subsequent archbishops seem largely to have abandoned Cawood in favour of their
palace at Bishopthorpe, much closer to York. By the early seventeenth century most of
the land, including the Castle Garth, had been leased out.®

35. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 815 f125-25v.

36. NAR SE43 SE5.

37. H.E.].le Patourel 1973, 15, 125. ) .o

38. W. Wheater, History of the Parishes of Sherburn and Cawood (1865), 79 (hereafter Wheater 1865).

39. Ceal Pat Rolls 1266-1272, 632. :

40. Reg Arch William Greenfield 1306-1315 IV (Surtees Soc 152 (1937)), 363, no. 2350; V (Surtees Soc 153
(1938)), 11, no. 2371; Historians of the Church of York 11 (RS 71), 422.

41. Historians of the Church of York 11 (RS 71), 433, 485; R. B. Dobson (ed), York City Chamberlains® Account Rolls
1396-1500 (Surtees Soc 192 (1978-9)), 44.

42. Hislorians of the Church of York 11 (RS 71), 440.

43. Wheater 1865.

44. PRO SC 11/766.

45. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 8/5 125 (1647).
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During the Civil War, Archbishop John Williams (1641-50) attempted to fortify the
palace, despite the fact that it was ‘unprovided, ruinous and indefencible’.46 By 1647,
after demolition by Parliamentary forces and apparently a fire, the buildings were
again described as ruinous. The castle site was finally sold in 1648 but nevertheless 24
hearths were listed for the castle in 167247

The early eighteenth-century engraving®® shows extensive ranges of buildings still
remaining especially at the north-western end of the site, but these were perhaps
largely removed in 1750 when Robert Hewarth was paid £190 11s. for expenses
involved in ‘pulling down part of the ruins of Cawood’.*? In the late eighteenth century
farm buildings were erected against the inner wall of the gatehiouse™ but this was
apparently after 1780 for the enclosure map shows no such building. By 1851 there
existed a range of farm buildings, set around a central yard with an entrance to the
rest of the palace site to the north-east.’! This was probably the farm pulled down in
the 1980s and said to be mainly of Victorian date or later.5? The 1851 plan also shows
a building to the north-east, near the centre of the site.

In 1887 a new road was cut across the site from the Rythergate junction with the
Market Place to Thorpe Lane. The succeeding arrangement is clearly depicted on the
OS Ist edn 25 in plan of 1891. In recent years modern housing, including a small
estate, has been laid out in the area of the palace between the new road and Old Road,
sadly without any prior archaeological excavation. Further building work has taken
place to the south of the new road, east of the gatehouse, in the last few years.

Castle Garth (Figs 3, 4).

The present Castle Garth is a trapezoidal area, mainly of permanent pasture, now in
the hands of Cawood Parish Council. The surviving palace buildings lie in the north-
western corner. South-west of these buildings, an enclosed area with a sub-circular
pond represents the late nineteenth-century garden (i.c. post-1891) of Cawood Castle
House.

In carlier times the Garth certainly extended northwards to include the whole of the
palace site and perhaps the western end of Water Row. It may once have extended
south-east to include the land between Broad Lane and Thorpe Lane to the north-
north-cast of Gill Green and perhaps thus even have included the area now occupied by
the castern end of Water Row. If this is so then, as noted above, Water Row might be
explained as a planned archiepiscopal settlement cut out of the Castle Garth. Such a
supposition also has implications for the surviving Gill Green and the north-western
termination. of Wistowgate. The former is oddly cramped by both the existing and a
putatively larger Castle Garth and a north-western extension of Wistowgate may have
been truntated by the establishment of the Garth. If this is so then the whole of the..
Garth and the palace site appear to have been placed into an existing landscape
without regard to any feature except the line of the Bishop Dike, if indeed it was
already there. The Dike forms the north-western boundary of the Garth.

Within the existing Castle Garth are various earthworks which were the subject of
the Royal Commission’s initial survey. Not all are explicable but they fall into two

46. J. Hackett, Scrivia Reservata (1692), 186-7; A. Philips, The Life of John Williams (1700), 283-4.
47. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 8/5 f125; CC Ab 6/8; PRO E179/262/14.

48. See note 28. _

49. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 10 CAWSI , April 1750.

50. Archaeology in York Interim 10 no. 4 (1985), 17.

51. OS Ist edn. 6 in plan, 1851.

52. "See note 50.
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main groups. The first group occupies the southern and western parts of the area and
is the least amenable to interpretation. Of the earthworks here the most obvious is a
broad deep flat-bottomed ditch or depression up to 2m deep, which extends with a
marked dog-leg in the centre along almost the full width of the south-western edge of
the Garth. It is normally marshy and in wet years holds water. Its termination on the
east is rounded. At the north-west its termination is abrupt and apparently modern.
This end has clearly been altered in recent times by the dumping of soil and indeed is
shown marshy and with an assymmetrical drawn out pointed end in 1891.%° In 1851
this end is shown different again, with a short extension or bulge to the north-east.>*
At that time the whole ditch is shown as water-filled. Only one thing is clear, and that
is that certainly since the mid nineteenth century this ditch has not been linked to the
Bishop Dike which lies only 7m from its present termination. Whether. it once did link
with the Dike is quite unknown and the Dike itself has no indication of any former link,
mainly as a result of continuous re-cutting. '

The name of this ditch also presents problems. It is called New Cut on the 1851 OS
plan, a2 name which is repeated on all subsequent editions of OS plans except the most
‘recent. Yet, as far as can be ascertained, the name, and indeed the ditch, is quite
unrecorded in any earlier documents. This name can thus have two possible
interpretations. It and the ditch itself may both be relatively modern, perhaps post-
medieval, and it may be, literally, a ‘new’ piece of work. It could therefore perhaps be -
merely a relatively late fishpond. The other interpretation is to accept the ‘new’ in
terms of place-names that often mean ‘very old’ or that perhaps the ditch had been
recut or remodelled in recent times and that it is of some antiquity. In this case it
might still be a fishpond - albeit perhaps medieval. But in view of the possibility that it.
was once connected to Bishop Dike, it may have originated as a basin, or wharf, for
boats using the navigable Dike, certainly in the later medieval period and perhaps
carlier, depending on the date of the Dike itself. Given the importance of medieval -
water-borne traffic in Cawood this is the most attractive theory though quite -
unprovable at the present time. L R W, G TEE

Part of the way along the New Cut, on its northern side, and connected to it by a gap
through the side of the Cut, is a somewhat irregular sub-rectangular depression. This
has an uneven base which is higher than the bottom of the New Cut. It is marked on
the 1851 OS plan and there called Willow Beds and is also shown as an area of rough
pasture on the 1891 plan. It is clearly later than the Cut and perhaps originated as a
quarry for brick earth or for clay for pottery manufacture. Bricks, tiles and
earthenware pottery were all being manufactured in Cawood in the mid nineteenth
century and later.”® Field-names of the sixteenth, seventcenth and eighteenth
centuries commonly indicate former brick and tile workings, though none apparently
in Castle Garth.%® !

The earliest reference to tile works and significantly specifically part of the
archbishop’s holdings is in about 1235, when a ‘cultura’ is described as extending from
the ‘tileworks (legula) of the archbishop and abuts on the ditch of the garden of the
same’.>” The reference to the garden implies that this must have been in or near
Castle Garth (see below) but it is not possible to give a closer location. .

.Various other low scarps, banks and hollows lie elsewhere immediately north of the

53. OS l1st edn. 25 in plan, 1891.

54. See note 10.

55. OS Ist edn. 6 in plan, 1851. : e

56. e.g. PRO SC12/17/58; Borthwick Inst CC Ab 12 CAW/WTS, 1/1 Court Book, 1630 (18 March 1690); 1/3
Court Book, 1736-1753 (July 1737); 1/7 Court Book, 1784-1790 (Jan 1787).

57. Reg Arch Gray 1215-1255 11 (Surtees Soc 56 (1870)). 246.
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New Cut but they form no identifiable pattern. Other even more fragmentary scarps
lie a little to the south of the palace gatehouse. Further south-west within the garden
of Castle Garth House is a sub-circular pond, now a decorative feature within that
garden. It is shown on the 1891 plan as smaller and more irregular and on the 1851
plan as much larger and oval. On both plans it is called Fish Pond. This pond and the
adjacent slight earthworks to the north could be connected with the demesne farm
which ;écrtainly existed at Cawood and presumably lay outside the palace in medieval
times.

More important and seemingly more understandable are the second group of
earthworks which occupy the north-eastern third of Castle Garth. They comprise a
roughly rectangular enclosure, bounded on the north-west, south-west and south-east
by a dry ditch 8-10m wide and up to 1.2m deep. The north-eastern edge is the modern
boundary to Castle Garth. At the southern end of this enclosure are three very
different features, which probably were once all similar. On the west is a roughly
rectangular water-filled pond, much enlarged by modern cattle treading to judge from
the positions of a number of Scotch Pines around it, and shown smaller and more
rectangular in 1891 and even more rectangular in 1851. Immediately south-east and
parallel to it is a long narrow rectangular pond, now dry. This is not shown on either
the 1851 or 1891 plans. On its south-eastern side again are the slight remains of the
south-eastern side of a further pond. This is shown as a long narrow pond on both the
1851 and 1891 plans — apparently dry at the former date but water-filled at the latter.
Its present fragmentary appearance is the result of it being partly occupied by a
temporary property boundary which was laid across it after 1851 when its eastern half
and a small area of land to the east were incorporated into the paddock to the east.
The situation is shown thus in 1891 but has since reverted to the 1851 position. Both
the ponds are described as Fish Ponds on the nineteenth-century plans.

To the north-east of these three once parallel ponds are two blocks of very slight
narrow ridges 8-9m across and separated by a north to south axial gap with a rise so
slight that it is unsurveyable. These ridges lay within the enclosure and do not align
across the central gap. Thus they cannot be normal ridge-and-furrow. They are much
more likely to be planting ridges for trees or shrubs separated by an axial pathway.

At the extreme north-eastern end of the enclosure is a modern dog-leg drain. This
partly occupies the site of yet another roughly rectangular Fish Pond, depicted and
so-named on the 1851 and 1891 plans and which survived until the 1960s when it was
filled.

The internal details, both those surviving and those shown on earlier plans, make it
quite clear that this enclosure within Castle Garth can only be the remains of a former
garden. The three ponds, though superficially the same as medieval fishponds, have
parallels in numerous garden remains of the late and immediately post-medieval
period. The ridging, with its axial path, as has already been noted, is surely an area of
former tree or shrub-planting, while the destroyed pond to the north, which ideally
should have been matched with another in the area now built over to the north-west, is
an additional garden-type feature. By analogy with the growing body of information on
formal garden earthworks the remains at Cawood are likely to be seventeenth-century
or earlier.”?

That a garden or gardens existed at the archbishop’s palace at Cawood is certain.
The carliest reference noted is about 1235%° when a garden was recorded at Cawood

58. Cal Ing Misc 1377-1388 IV, 215, no. 396; Cal Ch Rolls 1257-1300, 269.
39. C. C. Taylor, The Archacology of Gardens (1983), 33-59.
60. See note 37.
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Castle. In 14475 the gardens are said specifically to adjoin the Castle. Given the
arrangement of the site, it seems likely that the surviving garden earthworks may be
on or near this fifteenth-century garden. :

Later documentation is less clear. In a survey dated about 1535 there is a reference
to a lease in 1515 to a place of 7 acres called-Apulgarth Flatte.5? This name apparently
does not occur in either earlier or later documents, but presumably indicates land used
for growing apple trees, that is an orchard. The name Flatte may be significant for the
only other fields in Cawood parish with the name Flat, Flatte or Flatts are those
immediately south of Castle Garth, well documented in the post-medieval period
because they remained in the archbishop’s hands after the sale of the main Cawood
manor.%® The 7 acres of Apulgarth is somewhat larger than the modern 5.5 acres
estimated to be the original area of the garden. If Apulgarth is the.garden then it was
already leased out in the early sixteenth century and thus its detailed arrangement of
ponds could belong to an earlier period. It is also possible that the identifiable ridges
may be the planting ridges for apple trees within that garden.

The picture is both clarified and clouded in turn by later references to a garden in
Castle Garth. From 1597 until 1627 there are a series of Receiver’s Accounts for
Cawood which refer to various offices held there.®* These offices are Keeper of Cawood
Castle, Keeper of the Stud Mares at Cawood, and the Keeper of the Orchard and the
Garden of Cawood. At first sight this seems to imply that the gardens at Cawood were
still in existence in the early seventeenth century. Further, a parliamentary survey of
1647, taken after the destruction of the castle, records the lands of the archbishop and
their values as in 1641. These include an orchard in the Castle Garth of 7 acres.% This
appears to be very similar to the orchard held by the earlier Keepers and perhaps even
the 7 acres of the Apulgarth. However, another survey of the archbishop’s remaining
lands made in the 1690s% has a significant entry: ‘Before the [Civil] Wars there were
Patent Officers who had salaries from the Archbishop. Take account of them from the
Audit Book of Arch. Matthews, 1609’. It then lists the same offices as in the Receiver’s
Accounts with their annual salaries, plus the office of the keepers of various deer parks.
Given that by this time the castle was abandoned and these parks no longer existed it
may be that perhaps these offices and their holders were, even by 1597, purely
honorary and related to a medieval situation which had long since disappeared. If this
is so then it makes it even more likely that the earthwork remains in Castle Garth,
Cawood, are those of the garden of a medieval archbishop.

Conclusion.

So far this paper has been largely descriptive and the result of observations rather °
than an overall analytical interpretation. Yet, is it indeed possible to analyse the large
masses of material available from a wide variety of sources and construct any general
picture of the origins and development of the Cawood landscape? One of the present
writers has already expressed doubts in print on the possibility of reconstructing past~
landscapes with any certainty.5 Nevertheless, perhaps some very tentative conclusions

61. Borthwick Inst A/19 {174 (Reg John Kempe). .
*62. PROSC 12/17/58. .
63. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 2/6 (Particulars of Archbishop’s Estates) ff13-21
64. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 6/1-6.
65. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 8/5 24.
66. Borthwick Inst CC Ab 2/6 f43. )
67. C. C. Taylor, Whittlesford: The Study of a River-edge Village, in M. Aston, D. Austin and C. Dyer (eds),
The Rural Settlements of Medieval England (1989), 207-27.
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might be drawn out, provided that it is accepted from the outset that they are tentative
and subject to revision at all levels.

The first point, picking up the title of this paper, is that, overall, the landscape of
Cawood, and probably the landscape of the other townships in the surrounding area
that were part of the Sherburn Estate, still bear the indelible marks of the
archiepiscopal hand. Other hands, both important and unimportant, have played their
parts to a greater or lesser extent, but it is the direct exploitation for money of most of
the land between the Wharfe / Ouse and the Aire by successive archbishops and their
servants that is the most marked feature in the present landscape. Over the Sherburn
Estate as a whole the details of this exploitation still remain to be filled in by other
scholars. Likewise much still remains to be done to assess fully the exploitation of the
wider landscape even of Cawood township. This is particularly true in relation to
matters such as the clearance or assarting of woodland, the enclosure of the open fields
and even micro-topographical details such as the fishing garths on the River Ouse.

To illustrate how this might be done it is perhaps worth attempting a reconstruction
of the development of the medieval settlement at Cawood in relation to what is at
present the perceived understanding in the wider field. As has been described in some
detail, Cawood is in effect a polyfocal village.% Yet the specific form of its various foci
have a regularity which pre-supposes an element of deliberate planning and while the
polyfocality may be ancient the detailed form of the village seems to be more recent. If
this is accepted as a working hypothesis then it may be possible to suggest the late
Saxon arrangement of Cawood. The postulation of such an arrangement depends
primarily on establishing the contemporary communication pattern of the area.

It would be impossible to expect that every road or lane of the time could be
identified. Nevertheless on the theory that in general terms what were in the later
medieval period and often still are important routes have always been important,%
some suggestions can be made. The primary route through Cawood is likely to have
been the present B 1223 Selby to Tadcaster road, locally running from Wistow via
Cawood to Ryther. A second important route, at least by late Saxon times, would
presumably have been the present B 1222 Sherburn to York road, perhaps crossing the
Ouse at Cawood by ferry. The tenurial link between Sherburn and York in late Saxon
times inevitably would have meant considerable traffic from Sherburn to Cawood, even
if the rest of the journey to York was completed by boat. The irregular form and
somewhat disjointed nature of the B 1222 north-east of Cawood might suggest that
originally the road to Sherburn was only important as far as Cawood. Thus, in late
Saxon times, there was in the vicinity of Cawood a point of junction or a crossing of a
north-east to south-west route and a north-west to south-east one. Refining the picture
rather more, the position of Cawood church, assuming that it is either on a pre-
Conquest site or is related to a settlement of pre-Conquest origin, demands the
existence of a river-edge trackway. There is also a need to presume the existence of a
route running due south from Cawood, in order to explain Gill Green and the northern
end of Broad Lane. The existence of such a route system and the polyfocality of
medieval Cawood would thus suggest that the late Saxon pattern consisted of a focus
at a crossroads somewhere in the area of the present High Street or around the ferry
and / or staithe, another focus at a further crossroads at or near Gill Green or the end
of Wistowgate and a third around the present church. These foci would equate with the
three parts of Cawood of the eleventh century and later, two of which, Church End and
High Street, belonged to the archbishop and the third of which, Gill Green, was in
other hands (Fig. 5A).

68. C. C. Taylor, “Polyfocal Settlement and the English Village’, Medieval Archaeol 21 (1977), 189-93.
69. C.C. Tavylor, Roads and Tracks of Britain (1979), 111-24.
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What happened subsequently is 'c!ear, though the relative and absolute dating must
be uncertain. The planned ‘port’ of Cawood,-the palace and Castle Garth and the
planned area of Wistowgate all appeared, perhaps with a replanned Church End
(Fig. 5B). The establishment of the Garth must. have completely disrupted the north-
west to south-east route-way and forced it into its pre-1877 line along Water Row, Old
Road and High Street. It also probably partly covered the area of the Wistowgate
settlement around Gill Green which may have led to that settlement being replanned
along Wistowgate itself. In addition, the Bishop Dike was either cut anew or recut on a
line which formed the boundary of the ‘new’ port and the Palace Garth. It is tempting
to suggest that the establishment of Cawood ‘port’, Wistowgate, Church End and the
Palace Garth could all have been one coherent piece of landscape planning, with the
Water Row area as a dependent servants’ quarters being either part of the main
scheme or created a little later. ) - ' '

If this is so what date can it all be? There is certainly no direct documentary
evidence. Indeed in terms of the exact location of any ancient feature in the modern
landscape, large or small, except for the church, nothing can be proved to have existed
before the fifteenth century. Even at that date only the position of the present palace
buildings is certain. Most other features, for example streets, lanes and fields cannot
be located until they are recorded in post-medieval documents. On the other hand, the
record of large numbers of hurdles and ‘bridges’, despatched from Cawood via
Pembroke to Ireland in 1211, might suggest that the port was alrcady in being by that
date. Further, by analogy with elsewhere, both in Yorkshire and beyond, the late
eleventh or twelfth century is the period at which such a massive alteration to. the
landscape could be envisaged. Many villages and parts of villages with regular plans -
have been assigned to this’time with a greater or lesser degree of certainty” and the
period is also one during which numerous ‘new’ towns were created.”! A close parallel |
to Cawood, both geographically and functionally as well as perhaps in date, is Hedon, ~
near Hull: It tod seems to have been set up as a market and a port, though not
technically a town, probably in the mid twelfth century.’? Perhaps the most likely time
for the establishment of Cawood as a new palace, a new port and a marketing centre is
also in this general period. Beyond that it is probably impossible to go. ’ '

In the realms of wilder speculation the confirmation of a grant of 7 bovates in -
Cawood to Archbishop Thurston in 1135-4073 could be seen as the royal seal of -
approval on the ownership of land before it was completely remodelled. Or the later
twellth-century rebuilding of the church at Cawood might mark the period of
replanning as it may have done at Somersham in Cambridgeshire.”* On the other hand
the record of a confirmation by Roger, Dean of York (1221-35), of an exchange of
‘certain lands and tofts’ made between John de Cawood and the archbishop in ‘the vill
of Cawood’’® might actually indicate the method by which the old Gill Green
settlement was removed and its land incorporated into Castle Garth, as well as its

70. Pipe Roll Soc, NS 28 (1953), xvii, 89; J. A. Sheppard, ‘Metrological Analysis of Regular Village Plans in
* Yorkshire’, Agr Hist Reo 22 (1974), 118-35; J. A. Sheppard, ‘Medieval Village Planning in Northern

England: Some Evidence From Yorkshire', J Hist Geogr 2 (1976), 3-20; P. Allerston, ‘English village
development: findings from the Pickering district of North Yorkshirc', Trans Inst Brit Geogr 51 (1970),
75-109; C. C. Taylor, Village and Farmstead (1983), 133-48; C. C. Taylor, ‘Spaldwick, Cambridgeshire’,
Proc Cambridge Antig Soc 78 (1989), 71-5. TR I - RS ’

71. Beresford 1967. - . ; LAl - . : : : :

72. T.R.Slater, ‘Medieval Town and Port: A Plan-analysis of Hedon, East Yorkshire’, YA 57 (1985), 23-41.

73. Farrer 1914, 34, no. 20. = 1 e =y : S : .

74. C. C. Taylor, ‘Somersham Palace, Cambs: A Medieval Landscape for Pleasure?’, in M. Bowden,
D. Mackay and P. Topping (eds), From Cornwall to Caithness, BAR Brit Ser 209 (1989), 211-24.

75. BL Cotton MS D Claudius B III f41.
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Fig. 5 Development of Cawood (Crown copyright: Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of
England)
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approximate date. Indeed these three events might be seen as the beginning, the
implementation and the culmination of the process of remodelling the Cawood
landscape. ’ . '

Thus, in the end, only suggestions can be made about the origins and the
development of the Cawood landscape. On the other hand it is now possible to indicate
specific places where future archaeological work might well be concentrated in order to
find the necessary evidence or disprove the foregoing theories. The palace site itself is
an obvious place and the edges of Gill Green, particularly where it abuts on the Castle
Garth, is another. Anywhere in High Street, Cawood, or in the area of the postulated
quay and market place would be useful to examine, while excavations in one of the few
empty spaces in Wistowgate might produce valuable evidence. This paper has not
provided answers to the origins of the archiepiscopal landscape of Cawood, but at least
it can now point to where those answers might be found. '

The Council of the Society is grateful to the Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England for a grant toward
the publication of this paper.

76



Cawood Castle History Album

The Lower Vale of Wharfe and York Edmund Bogg

From

swed Jayley siy uaym jeyy ‘reuanol siy ur sajels - ‘fanjuan
yigr Ljued a3 ur Jounigy “1I0IS WEIIAA duQ  sadispuesd
J1Py3 Jo sAep Y} Ul 3s210F 9y} PaAIsaJul [jiIs yoym ‘so[pdad
duidoaro Luswr pue ‘suarrewr ourd, pue sjEd pim ‘soAjom
‘reoq o3eAuS 9} ‘SUIZIUIP IBULIO] §I1 JO. U0 |j2} O} JuOM
aram oyl pue ‘)sa10f , pn=mo)) ,, SE UMOUY Sem )1 ‘odu
sieaf 05 uaao ajdoad pale ay) g -oseyo oyl jo saunsead
ay e Suproge ‘app ppm ypEm payools  ‘ajsem  pue
yieay jo s9wr Y3 pue ‘poom-sdoysig ‘poom 3Jwaid ayj,

unHy zuvdy] "IVOOIM ‘ESN0 AL A0 HOLHYIS V

‘puepoog ynum siem 3yl Suunp Juimojoy 11y) pue sSumy

Joy 3Josax jo aoeld B sem 3] apised ® jo Apulip oy 03
pasres powiag UBWLION 2y} ul .pue ‘ueisjpyly jo udei sy
Juump pajoaIs sem ISNOY Jouewl Y “poomen o) pofueyo
SOLINJUID JO 9SIN0D Ul ‘poom-lie)) 20udy ‘poom-s doysig
pafiea (s poom Juipeaids-iey oyl pue ‘popunonns sem 3
yorym £q puepaes pue dwrems Juif[-mo] 9y} woay pIALIp
aq Lew awreu-soe(d ay] -sieaf ool ydiu a0y sojvwrg oyl £q
posn sem ‘osodand jeyy Joy ‘pue ‘doysiqyore 9yl J0j SwWOY

el ‘aoomvy)

B Sk MI0X JO 233G Y3 0} Sugy snowoldla oyl £q ‘uingrayg
Pm ‘usard sem 31 uoym ‘SE6 ‘siapeAul uIaygilou Yy} JIA0
£Lio03014 s ueyspoyyy Suryy asyye £103s1y OJUT SWOO[ ISIy pue
‘umouar juspue jo adeld B sI ‘esnQ Ayl Jo ueq Ynos
94} uo spuels !pn-mo)) s1 uoneunuosd [EOO[ S

*ACOMVY)

‘T YHLIVHO

aem-eas ayl—, 1o0ds ,, ‘zodea—uoxeg
-o[duy . ‘0131e L(Hom 10§ J00 IBAA ,, :INO [[EO SpE[ adeqpa
UL i lemaq “no HooT ,, :.uEmEOO S35 JCC ‘orem
B, (fPadeq Jep ,, :s[e00] 93 Jo jnoys Juruwiem oy
20uay ‘xngup pides ay3 £q PasISWIWI pUB SIIEMEBUN I9AL 91}
£q 3yB3ned> Juixq jo 3su 9y) je aue suosied pue ‘sSurioow
JI9U} WOIY PIYSEM SIWIIIWOS 2JE S[99) Puk Sjeog  'JAIJ XIS
10 2AY jo Iy o243 03 INi-[lem Sasi ‘Joanr Suipuadsap
oy} Jupeawr pue ‘caem jepi3 o31e[ ouo ur spiemdn sdooms
193em 9pndunids jo 910q [NJI2I0F Y} ‘PIRYNPY] PUE poomer)
uaamiag ‘JySys Ao s1 mogdn ayy ‘opn-mop ‘deou 1y
'xoumby [euisp Jo [RUWNINY 0] UOOJN MaN 9yl 0} JaIEOU
jeyy st jsoydiy oy 'saprendss oyl dn Jagem jo ysnjur
[epi3. a3 ‘ysodway evas 1o | ‘erdeqy ,, 9yl ‘euswousyd my
-1Ppuom jeyj uonuaw 213y Jydru suo ‘prayjpes Surrequin(s
jsed 2snQ snonuis 2y} Jo SHueq oy} Juimoljo]
"Jeajop pue uoneIWnY Iy} Jo
£103s pes ay) peasds o0} BOS YMION P[IM 2y} §S0I0E F0uULY)
pue ‘Supy peep JIBYF yum 9sn() oyj umop pajres Loyl
A[NJUINOJ ‘pUR[AWOY I3} ©} SIOATAINS 3yl yoeq ALueo
01 papasu a1am anoj-fuami Kjuo ‘arojeq sep maj v apieq
01 adoy 43y yum Zwuing pue ‘gsoy AySwu jeyy Sunesq
sdiys paspuny 9Ag 3U3 Jo Ing  °S[OSSIA J19Y} PABY O] WoY]
pamopie £[snopeid ‘f10jra jo inoy jeasd siy ur ‘prorepy
ury ‘puerSuyg surede sune seaq 03 urefe sessu Suistwosd
pue ‘soead Jupreams uo puy f1o)s [ewsip oy Lemion
o} ¥oeq A11ed 03 1591 319m MIJ jeyr os paysuad Loy slem

AIVATIAVHAA  HIMO'T F1

77



Cawood Castle History Album

01 paidpio pue uosean} 43 jo 281eys ® uo paIseLIE SEA.

ay ‘ioje] owp) owoS ‘o1oyMm  ‘pOOMED) 0} PIIIPIO- sem oy
‘ssampeasd syy jo padding cpides sem [ey siy 9jeis pue
yoanyo ur sinouoy jssydiy ay3 woiyg Aysivape sy jo sdep

9Y3j Ul Jwoy e punojy ‘s{euipie) jo 90Ul PUB UIWYOINYD"

jo snowej jsowr ayy ‘£asjopp JEUI PoOME) Ju SEM I
. urede yireo
Ot} Hem o3 woass KIoISH ur 9Alf oym Adyjf
furerq fwr [y

swojueyd Amopeys  ‘pajiedop sfep JO SUOISIA ,,
~—: passaulIM sey a]3seo siyl sedeuosiad pue sausds JNOISH
3o eucissadord Suof v jByAN  "padeIl Baq Ti13s UBD INSO[OUI:
pajgow pue pajjem sy3 pue sSuiping waey ayy’ ur urewras
s ‘ssaujeard [eorIseIsao0e JO SOIad Buwepmowr ‘spyseo oy
jo syuowdery moy y sdoysiquoie oy jo ney Supenbueq
943 udsq IAey 03 pies sooy Jaddn ue paurejuod fjrounioy 3
‘Smopuim UBIpIEMPI] e] x5 Aq payydy ‘jedeyo 9y} uasq
LJreurdiio saey o3 pesoddns Suip[ing ayij-ulteq 3}o11q .31 B SI
femared ayy 30 Y31 3y uQ. ‘sune jo PIPIYS © Sujejuod>
aseq 9y} je spued anoj Byl jo yoes ‘spued Jnor ojui
papiaip yoes sfeq anojy jo MOpUIM. [9LI0 ‘Jea®@Ipow ‘[nyrnesq
e st Aemaged oyy jo youe 1uul 3y} 240qy  “mOpulm
Jedioupnd oy st yoiym 190 ‘sSunresq [eLIOULIE JO Spa1Yys.
USAJ[3 Y}M PIYSI[3qIud OPEp B SUNI YOIB Y} JO JUOIJ Isam
oy} 1940 ‘0BIUL (IS SI Lemared jeosd ayy -LiwjuswSesy
£luo mou are ooered pue o[3sed oy} Jo Ssureway

MeA\ [1ALD) 2y Jo porad 9yl [IuUN poomery e papissi
sdoysiqyore ay] z4S1 ‘j10x 03 Kewinol 1oy uo poomer
PAUSIA YIOqeZIF u39n{) ‘SIBS PIYSIUOISE SIY U0 ULJ[EJ pey
uopidsns Jo yjeaaq 2yl 210j3q ‘oniws Auuns aay up Supyseq
Buiy oyl ‘slyme S[ISEO SIY) e PIISOl ‘DIEMOJ] SuULIayIE)
‘opraq Hunok arey siy pue CII[A oyl ALiuey  -3enbueq
snomdwins Siy) jB pIemals se pajoe |, ‘suoseq a9yl jo ise[,,
‘ormIep Jo 1y ‘SIasN preyony ‘rexew-3uiy oyl ‘Jeyjoiq
s doysiquose oyl uUdYM 9ISIMISYIO  UL3Q dABY 31 Pp[NOd
moy {3uirded jusoguSew ® pospur sem 3] ‘jsedar
Areurpioesjxa spyy Jo uondudsop pa[ieIep ©  piogE jou
soop 20vd¢’ 'gob1 ur oudoysiqyoly oy} 03 pajeIsur ugM
oraaN 231099 Aq uvaard 3seay jeard oyl ur poyomal sem

LT g - "aGo0MV)

v

dugsesy jo xeWIP 3y} Inq ‘sejeppad su Aq Sumueiisgus
Jo JsuuBW YSIAB] 9Y} JOJ 3[QEIOU JUWIBIIG POOME])

SN0 WOUA 'HOENHD JOOMYO

© DBog punwpiy}

‘uolaylolg jo uyof
se £101s1y ur umouy ‘uopioyjolg e uOs B 0} ypIq oaed
usanb 3unof siy jeyy uny urol o3 sayyy; Juilouanol Ispym
sem 3]  -Surmnpr waym Jo ‘igrou Lewmofl siy uo aiay
SAWI) [BIIAIS SEM ‘[ PIBMPF . "POOME)) 0} SIONSIA Iemn3az
219m ‘sonunior apyl yim ‘Apeounid se jsourfe spoalqns oyl
pue ‘s3ury] -£qag 01 Kem oyl ues yorgm ySnoxyy ‘SSeyy
IIYSO UMOp 83E} 03 Padiof sem 31 eyl ‘Fuipeasds Ljjuspras
rem uay) UYOIym ‘spoom jeard yons ySnoryy ersam Lqeg
PUB MOISIp\ O} poOMEB). WOI SpPeOI Iy} ‘yIeg wWedg 03

"TIVATAIVH A - HIMOT] 91

78



Cawood Castle History Album

“}JOX 03 UOPUOT] WOy P JeIrd
Siy up 219y 9snQ 2y} wems  ‘ssof Hoe[y ,, ‘9Jew snowwy
siy uo ‘uidiny, o Iey) Plo} si 3] °pioy Jo Loy Aq sea.
Juisso1d ay3 ‘9jep SIyl 03 SNOIAdYG  PLISIP duipunoxins.
oy} 03 ucoq jeard e pasoxd sey yowym ‘asnQ By} A0
g sem 28puq uoar ,‘[enueisqns ‘pood e ‘zigr u]
9sn(y 9y3 Jo atoys oyj 03 akpsdoysig umop ‘sjund uo
‘Suijeoy 1o ‘Surdpols ‘surem £q ‘susdw snowrea Aq poome),
03 pojpiodsues} sem 31 (310X 03 paddiys sem ouojls pauienb
uojsIPpN 9yl 2oudyYM woij jrod Y sem poome)
~a8e[A 9y} JOAO [|E S|[BM 9y} Ul UIIS 3] O}
aJe ‘a[3SEO 9y} JO SUINI 9y} woly parenb ‘sauols s,
‘{3iqeanp pue ssoupiey 31 uaald pue ‘Aaad Lioaps ‘jos.
¥ OJUl SUOJS SIY} PAAJUIY SBY W], ‘INISed 3y} Juping ut
pasn 2ouejsur ISIy 9y} UI ‘SILIIEN) UOISIPPNH dY) WOy
SaU03JS PO[[PSIYO dUY UIIS 3G 0} e S|jem YP Ul jng
atoyy pue arefy  +ade jsed e jo samjoid pue sainjeay.
Suruaeyo Auew Jupuosard ‘sI0UI0d puUEB S}HOOU SNOMND OJUL
suo Suipes| sodessed pue ‘syjed-akq ‘sjinod ‘skem-Adje
Luew oy ‘sooeid plo B Ul SB ‘MOlIBU JIE $JODJ)S UlBWE
oyl ‘suonmuw pue ‘sayoiod jurenb ‘s901u100 ‘s9s1n0d Julns
ajqnop 419y ynm anbsainjoid LA pue ‘youq jo Aperyo are:
sosnoy oyj, ‘3 Inoqe oadse yom( B 93nb yum ‘umo;
Supsjoor-anbyue ‘snound v s1 poome) -adsoyydoysig e
ooejed 2y} Juipping ur PIsn 2IIM SIUOIS PUE JaquIl B Jor
pied spiemiajje pue ‘9|qeuljun IpeW SEM I[ISLD I} pue
xepey pio] £q paimyded sem 31 Jepn [1a1) oyl dunmp
umol pjo ayr punose Jumysiwarys jjed sem a1ay[

. L, 'P9S Ry} Ojul paAowdl noyl aq ,, (Iseaiq siy
uvodn puey spy Suife| owil swes 3y} je) ,, UrEIUNOW SIy} 0}
fes 3s,pjnom noyj ‘poss paeisnw jo uread B se ynuejy noyl
3s,peH ,, : pandar oym ‘alqns ayy uo uowdo s udieluon
doysig pajsonbax. pue ‘coygo paroes jeyy Joj uvosiad Iy
¢ QWEBU O} JuIl} JWOS 10J SSO[ ¢ JB SUM w:ﬁ ayy ‘Jueoea
oweddq 10X JO 235 9yl uaypy ‘seaoxd ym Lpuar siy jor
uonpensnyr Juimojjoy 2yl yomym ‘igjsund 3de ue sem oY
“D[ISED Y1 UI 2191 PopISal pue ‘JI0X JO VWL IPRW STM
‘goanyo Ayl jJo sinouoy 1seydiy sy3 03 asor ‘poome]) jo
aAnIEU puUEB ‘Jduney B jo vos ‘udiejuoly 23109n) ‘g9l Uy

61 *aoomv))

e .wu_m_._. £213

Aw ur Jsao sw uwaald saAey jou pmom oy ‘Suiy Lw
‘st Apuadiip se por) poArds pey [ JI,, : SPIOm’ geioursw
-2y} pasn 2y Jnoy Jse[ siy uf Aoqqy 19)sadAT je paIp ay
‘Aem oy} £q Lream pue xors Juiey ‘Ing ‘(e 10J UOpuOT

ST | ‘HELSYD d00MYD "HONVEINT HILAO0S

LISV, GOOMYD )

TR S

*HIVATIAVH AN HIMOT] 81

79



Cawood Castle History Album

Aes pinom oys fued pue ureid jo Apoasd sem apm asoym
‘a9 pjo° paanjeu-Asea oy . pue ‘reurdLio ue pasptr sem
oym ‘sspmoy woli|y Jo ., ‘Lyoef ,, sk 19332q umouy ‘Io[mo,]
uyo[  ‘jJanq 9q ISnW 9m siepeleyd [Burdio s JO

Bbog punwpi] . "TAMXASIOHSIH

‘wny e 03 suop sysejyealq J30 pue wey pej-awoy sy
, ‘possed aours aawy yoiym sieaf ppo of ayj Jaso ‘uanodioy
4949u sey J19jIM dy])  -saoe(d dwiy plo 20| oym [ jo
- 3iep oyl sram syoou affur snoumd pue saowuur jurenb
2S0UM ‘SUU] JUDIOUE S31 JOJ PIJOU SeM POOME]) ‘P[O JO

1G *aoomv)

Q

U800 AHL MOdd dOOMV:

unag ._.I]

80



Cawood Castle History Album

porrad £pres siy3 jo surewds £uo syj ‘£mijuad y1z1 9y} Jo
Ijppiw 2y} Inoqe woiy sajep yoinyd jussaad ayp pdeyo
JUIIOUE UE pue uleq Iy3i} pjo Yy} poojs juadelpe !iojem mof

uoyng vy "HOENHD dOOM VD

Je pojedo] Jo£ 9q ueBd YoM ‘asnQ 9yl 1980 pioj paaed
JU3PUE U ST £q JLaN JBJR WOJJ UIIS MyJrwpue] snondidsuoo
e ‘siea jJO spaipuny 93y} SJIBUAA . 2UY] JIDAO [OUNUAS

€ .aookqn.u )

Suipjoy ‘sopoeuurd pajeyo01d £330] INOY YHm pIjudwIpIeq
21M3011)S Uy © S1 JIMO} YL ISNQ Y} JO 2AIND |njunesq
e Jeou Suwipueys ‘yoiny) 9yl o3 ssed mou sn Ja]
‘sagal 201y} £12A3 Pay SI HNOD Pjoya21} B
240} ‘ouew ayy jo Ape[ ay) 03 Jurduojaq ‘|eH ALingsaayf
jo juowSesy e spueys aueiyy 2y} opsoddo smopeow
9y3 ul pue ‘90UIpISAI JuUdDUE. JdYjoue sI djedmolsipy Ul
OSNOH “JOUBIN. Y], °IS2I9JUl JO $9INJEI] J3YJ0 e ‘smojjim
paejjod 981g[ Jo moa 3y pue uapred syy Suipunorns jem
ay], ‘swoos pajpued oM} puUE SAMOpUIM PIUOKNW [EULLIO
oM} JO QU0 OS[E ‘100p JUSOUE pIPPNIS [[om B pue
yodod £yead e suiewad S 2134, ‘JOOI IOpnjy e aioq
fpowsoy pue ‘uoisuew uRYIRqeZI[H UB ST ‘S,UOS[OYIIN U3
Jo Qousprsal 9y} ‘ajedmoisipg Jo peday ayy e ‘aduein Ayj,
0j0 ‘Bujeued jeo pue ‘sasinod 3uiys pue yuid ‘yorod
jurenb ‘sojqed sy gym ‘osnoy 99, MIZ  poldg Menig
£1rea 9y3 jo 2Injoajyose opsawop jo saddy Junsardul
pue anbsainjord £19a inoy Jo 921y} surejuod doed Iy,
“19)99s-a1nseas} e.jo opeds £3on sy} Supreme ‘panng
Aidosp ‘pjod jo ,, JIny-3o0yd ,, 3pIY t jo os[e pue ‘IpisiaAll
oy} £q aunseary uoppry jo sdesy oyl jo o3 [IM SIYIQ
jad1eyd jo 293y | ‘JmoOuU JOJ MO ,, ‘JedU JO JEje WO}
s1owoo-{[e 10J a1eds o} pue ydnous sem a1y} moy pue ‘aeak
J[oym By} PoIse[ jey3 dUO JO pue ‘3[ISed .9y} e P[RY SISEd]
je213 jo Quo [(@3 03 .1adea v , S[BOO[ ,, SYJ, IUAIMII(Y
pue asnQ 9y} usamiaq 3sa10y s Jury oyl ur s19353105 LJeuUrduo
otom pue ‘sieed 005 JoOJ-JOLSIP Sy} Ur LQwel 9|qeIOoU ®B
219M ‘poOME)) JO ¢ SPOOMED) JY], ‘SUOnEIaUad AuBwr 10§ 29y
papIsal S1eaqiOj ISOYM ‘SUIBUNO]y PUE - ‘SP[EUIOA\ ‘suos
-JOYOIN' ‘SHLUIOJY ‘synwig 9yl jo Isoyl yum Juore saweu
Anwey oyy jo duo si pue ‘Ayedy pue dey |Is si ‘sieak
21008 anoj siy jsed ydnoyle ‘(Inoge swEIIp UBWRIIYSHIOX
sy} fJulyy e ‘uur pauoiyses-plo [BAI B) , [BIOIDWWOY ,, Y}
jo piofpue] [ewod swiy duo oyl ‘uorurirepn A cKlowdwr
o ur jmp 104 Inq “sud Syl Jo mou Q1B SIYOBIBYD
3SaYJ,  “OO[UIAA PIo] JOo 901a13s oy3 ui Juiysy usym
‘s{ep pjo o9y} ur uvowjes jo sainjdes Suipunoise 2yl jo [[93
0} juom sem oy ‘uny uodn Apy3i jes sieol gg asoym
‘reddag ,, puany sem axdy], . 'ueade | anjoow [ B ‘B9S

‘
‘ulod Jeyj painjoowr jme 3usay ooyy, ,, ‘UBW pjo 3y} O}

SIVATANYHAL 4IMOT] 2T

81



